# An Evaluation of the Readability and Suitability of Online Hearing-related Health Information in Traditional Chinese

Phoebe W.T. Chan

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Audiology.

Department of Psychology, Speech and Hearing

University of Canterbury

CMDS 690

Dr. Rebecca Kelly Campbell

8 February, 2021

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost, thanks and praise my Lord, the Almighty God, for His showers of hope, strengths and blessings throughout my study to complete the Audiology master degree and the research successfully.

I would like to express my special thanks of gratitude to my research supervisor Dr. Rebecca Kelly Campbell for her continuous support of my master study and research, for her guidance and enthusiasm in this professional area, and immense knowledge. Her vision, dynamism and motivation have deeply inspired me. I am extremely grateful for what she has offered me.

Additionally, my completion of this project could not have been accomplished without the support of my classmates, my friends, my brothers and sisters in Christ, and my family. To my beloved classmates, I am extremely grateful for your love, care, acceptance, and support, especially when I first joined the year group and was still trying to adapt to the new learning environment. To Adrian, Sherly, Kelly, Elaine – thank you for supporting me emotionally and clinically. I am very much thankful to my brothers and sisters in Christ, family and friends for their love, prayers, understanding, and continuing support to complete my research. Your encouragement when the times got rough were much appreciated. My heartfelt thanks.

# Abstract

*Purpose:* This study aimed to determine the readability and suitability of online hearing-related health information in traditional Chinese (TC) and to compare the readability and suitability between the TC and English materials available on the same websites.

*Methods:* The reading grade level of 17 selected websites, detailing the same hearing-related health information in TC and English, was assessed via the Chinese Readability Index Explorer (CRIE) for TC language, and Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level and Simple Measure of Gobbledygook (SMOG) for English. Then, the suitability of the webpages was rated using the Suitability Assessment of Materials (SAM).

*Results:* Online hearing-related health information in TC was significantly easier to read than the information written in English. More than 70% of the hearing-related health webpages provided information in TC that was written below the recommended 6<sup>th</sup> Reading Grade Level (RGL), whereas all the information in English was written above the 6<sup>th</sup> RGL. Overall, the suitability level of the online hearing-related health information in both languages was rated as 'adequate'. *Conclusion:* A majority of the online hearing-related health information in TC language is readable and appropriate for the public. Yet, improvements still can be made to improve the quality of the current online hearing-related health information in TC. Future research may include utilizing the Cloze Test for testing TC readability, developing specific suitability assessments for evaluating online materials, and assessing the accuracy of online hearing-related health information in TC.

List of Abbreviations	6
List of Figures	7
List of Tables	7
Chapter 1 Introduction	8
1.1 Study Overview	8
1.2 Traditional Chinese Language	9
1.3 Overview of Hearing Loss	10
1.3.1 Prevalence of Hearing loss in Hong Kong and Taiwan	11
1.3.2 Management of Hearing Loss	11
1.4 Consumer Health Information on the Internet	12
1.4.1 Online Consumer Health Information	
1.4.2 The Health on the Net Code of Contact – the validation of OCHI	13
1.4.3 Prevalence of Seeking OCHI and Online Health Information Seeking Behaviour	14
1.5 Health literacy	15
1.5.1 Definition and Importance of health literacy	15
1.5.2 Impact of health literacy on health outcomes	16
1.5.3 Literacy Level and Recommended RGL for CHI	17
1.6 Measures	
1.6.1 Readability	
1.6.1.1 English Readability	
1.6.1.2 Traditional Chinese Readability	19
1.6.1.3 Previous studies	
1.6.2 Suitability Analysis of English and TC written materials	23
1.6.2.1 Previous studies	
1.6.3 Correlation between readability and suitability	
1.7 The Aims of Study	
1.7.1 Research Questions	
1.7.2 Research Hypotheses	
1.7.2.1 RGL of hearing-related webpages based on language	
1.7.2.2 Suitability level of hearing-related webpages based on language	
1.7.2.3 Correlation between RGL and SAM score based on language	
1.7.2.4 Between-group comparison of KGL and Suitability level	
Chapter 2 Methods	
2.2 Search Terms and Internet Search	
2.3 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	
2.4 Collection of webpage information and content	
2.5 Computer-based Readability Formulas	
2.5.1 Traditional Chinese Readability Analysis	
2.5.2 English Readability Analysis	
2.6 SAM analysis	
2.7 Statistics	
Chapter 3 Results	35

# **Table of Contents**

An Evaluation of the Readability and Suitability of Online Hearing-related Health Information in Traditional Chinese Page 4 of 68

3.1 Overview	35
3.2 Descriptive Statistics	
3.2.1 Readability	
3.2.2 Suitability	
3.3 Hypotheses	41
3.3.1 Reading grade level (RGL) of hearing-related webpages based on language	41
3.3.2 Suitability level of hearing-related webpages based on language	41
3.2.3 Correlation between RGL and Suitability based on language	42
3.2.4 Between-group comparison of reading grade level and suitability level	42
Chapter 4 Discussion	46
4.1 Overview	46
4.2 Readability and Suitability	47
4.2.1 Readability	47
4.2.2 Suitability	48
4.2.2.1 Suitability of Webpages written in TC language	
4.2.2.2 Suitability of webpages written in English language	
4.2.3 Correlation between Readability and Suitability levels	51
4.3 Clinical Implications	51
4.3.1 Improving Hearing Health Literacy	51
4.3.2 Clinician-patient relationship and patient-centered communication skills	52
4.4 Limitations	53
4.5 Future research	54
4.5.1 Cloze test for readability testing	54
4.5.2 Suitability Assessment for online materials	54
4.5.3 The accuracy of online TC hearing-related health information	55
4.6 Conclusions	55
References	56
Appendix	68

# List of Abbreviations

Artificial Neural Network (ANN) Chinese Readability Index Explorer (CRIE) Consumer Health Information (CHI) Flesch Kincaid Grade Level (FKGL) Health On the Net of Code of Conduct (HONcode) Hong Kong (HK) Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC) Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) Non-Applicable (NA) Online Consumer Health Information (OCHI) Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT) Reading Grade Level (RGL) Simple Measure of Gobbledygook (SMOG) Simplified Chinese (SC) Suitability Assessment of Material (SAM) Support Vector Machine (SVM) Taiwan (TW) Traditional Chinese (TC) Uniform Resource Locator (URL)

United States Department of Health and Human Services (USDHHS)

# List of Figures

Figure 3.1 Bar graph of the RGLs of hearing-related webpages presented in TC	43
Figure 3.2 Bar graph of the RGLs of hearing-related webpages presented in English	43
Figure 3.3 Boxplot of the readability levels of webpages in each language group	14
Figure 3.4 Boxplot of the suitability levels of webpages in each language group	45

# List of Tables

4
б
L
б
9
0

# Chapter 1 Introduction

# 1.1 Study Overview

Consumer Health Information (CHI) is a Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) term first introduced in 2008. It is defined as "information intended for potential users of medical and healthcare services" (Medical Subject Headings [MeSH], 2008). CHI is important for patients, family members, caregivers, and people who are interested in health care and disease prevention. CHI plays a critical role in increasing consumers' health literacy level, promoting health knowledge and aiding psychosocial adjustment to illness (Lambert & Loiselle, 2007). Providing readable and suitable health information can be an effective teaching tool for adult health consumers (Foltz & Sullivan, 1999). CHI can be delivered through different formats, such as flyers, fact sheets, brochures, posters, booklets and on websites.

Nowadays, internet use around the world has continued to expand and has become one of the most common sources for public health education. Health information aims to enhance the knowledge of health care and disease prevention, and health promotion. The impact of the internet on public health education has transformed how the public accesses health information, understanding of own health conditions, improvement in health outcomes, and the interaction between the health professions and the patients. This has caused the rise of attention to the readability and suitability CHI on the internet for the last two decades (Stossel et al., 2012).

Standardized measurements such as readability formulas and suitability assessment tools have been developed to measure whether written information is accessible and suitable for the public. Readability formulas are language-specific as different languages have distinct linguistic construction features. Currently, there are more than 12 different languages readability formulas available for text analysis (Doak et al., 1996), including Traditional Chinese (TC). Suitability Assessment of Materials (SAM) was first developed for evaluating printed materials in English (Doak et al., 1996), and later translated and validated for evaluating Chinese written materials (Chang et al., 2014).

Despite having accessible tools for analysing written information in TC, there is still a major gap in the readability and suitability of online consumer hearing-related health information in TC. Hsu et al. (2019) was the first study to investigate the readability of some hearing-related health webpages in TC and found a substantial part of the information exceeded the recommended 6th RGL. No previous study has evaluated the suitability of those webpages. Against this background, the present investigation aims to further assess the readability and suitability of online hearing-related health information in TC and compare with the readability and suitability of the same information in English from the same website.

# 1.2 Traditional Chinese Language

The Chinese language has the largest population of native speakers, while the English language is the most widely spoken language in the world (Ethnologue, 2020). There are approximately 1.12 billion Chinese speakers around the world (Ethnologue, 2020). The written forms of Chinese are divided into TC and Simplified Chinese (SC). They have the same writing systems but the written characters are completely different. The Chinese characters are formed by basic gestures which are known as strokes. TC has more strokes in each Chinese character than SC. For example, the term 'hearing sense' is written as '聽覺' in TC and '听觉' in SC. The

writing of TC characters looks more complicated than SC. Hong Kong and Taiwan are the only two Chinese-speaking regions using TC as their official language while SC is adopted by all the other Chinese-speaking regions.

# 1.3 Overview of Hearing Loss

Hearing loss is defined as "the complete or partial loss of the ability to hear from one (unilateral) or both (bilateral) ears" (MeSH, 2003). Hearing loss can occur in all ages. When an adult's hearing thresholds are better than or equal to 25 decibels in hearing level (dB HL), they are considered to have normal hearing (Katz et al., 2014). Disabling hearing loss refers to any hearing threshold across the tested frequency range of the better hearing ear being greater than 40 dB HL in adults and greater than 30 dB HL in children (World Health Organization [WHO], 2020). Some hearing loss can be temporary and reversible but most of the hearing loss incurred may be permanent. Hearing loss is classified into different types and severity levels – mild, moderate, moderately-severe, severe, or profound (Jerger & Jerger, 1980). The impacts of hearing loss can be varied and depends on an individual's daily communication needs and personal experiences.

The greatest impact of hearing loss is communication access. It directly affects an individual's ability to engage in conversation, obtain verbal information successfully, and establish social relationships with others as communication is disrupted. People with hearing loss are likely to rely on visual cues (e.g. lip-reading), linguistic context (e.g. the topic of the conversation and keywords), and situational cues when they cannot hear the conversation. This can make communication effortful for them, particularly when there is background noise and limited visual cues available (Fraser et al., 2010; Picou et al., 2013; Koeritzer et al., 2018).

An Evaluation of the Readability and Suitability of Online Hearing-related Health Information in Traditional Chinese Page 10 of 68 Negative experiences in communication may lead to psychological stress, social isolation, and incompetence in learning, social situations, or at work (National Research Council, 2004). Individuals who are hearing impaired may also feel isolated, have low self-esteem, especially when they feel a lack of understanding from their spouse, family, friends, co-workers, or employers. Hence, hearing loss should be assessed and treated as early as possible to reduce the impact on an individual's communication access in daily life.

#### 1.3.1 Prevalence of Hearing loss in Hong Kong and Taiwan

The World Health Organization (WHO, 2018) states that there are approximately 466 million people globally who have impaired hearing. The second highest prevalence of hearing loss was in East Asia (i.e. China, Hong Kong, Macau, and Korea), with approximately 21.6% of the population having hearing loss (WHO, 2018). Taiwan (TW) is also part of the East Asia region.

In 2014, the Census and Statistics Department (C&SD) of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China (HKSAR) reported 2.3% (n = 155,200) of the total Hong Kong (HK) population was diagnosed with hearing loss. 24.2% of the impaired hearing population were aged below 65 and 75.8% were aged 65 or above (C&SD, 2014). The Ministry of Health and Welfare (2016) of TW also reported 122,906 people, about 0.52% of the total TW population, had hearing loss in 2015, 97.52% of which were above the age of 18.

### 1.3.2 Management of Hearing Loss

Intervention options are varied for individuals due to numerous factors. These factors include the degree of hearing loss, nature of intervention, financial ability, ability to use digital

devices, hearing needs, other people's experiences, recommendations, and support available (Laplante-Lévesque et al., 2010). Aural rehabilitation consists of four components, including detecting and managing sensory deficits, providing instruction in hearing aid and accessory management, providing training on speech perceptual skills, and providing counselling on expectations and progress of rehabilitation (Boothroyd, 2007). A combination of the four components was proven to enhance an individual's function, activity, participation, and quality of life (Boothroyd, 2007). Furthermore, hearing aids are one of the most common treatment options for managing individuals with irreversible hearing loss. Besides, communication strategies are often applied to aural rehabilitation to maximise individual hearing outcomes. WHO has estimated that approximately 20% of the hearing loss population (72 million) required hearing aids (WHO, 2013); however, only 3% of this population considered hearing aid adoption.

# 1.4 Consumer Health Information on the Internet

#### 1.4.1 Online Consumer Health Information

According to the Internet World Stats (2020b), it estimated that 4.5 billion internet users will exist worldwide by the end of December 2019. The top three regions included Asia (55.1%), Africa (17.2%), and Europe (10.7%). Asia had approximately 2.3 billion internet users in 2019 and has had a 1913% growth in the number of internet users since 2000 (Internet World Stats, 2020b).

The prevalence of people seeking online health information around the globe has been growing in this digital age, and the demand for online medical and health resources has significantly increased and expanded rapidly in the last two decades (Liu, 2020). The advantages of seeking health information online include convenience, coverage of the information that people can find promptly (Chu, 2017), and the availability of different languages.

The positive outcomes of utilising Online Consumer Health Information (OCHI) include: 1) health consumers becoming more proactive in seeking consultation from health professions, 2) making decisions for their health care, 3) improving satisfaction with healthcare experiences and physician-patient interactions, 4) improving health status and 5) reducing worries (Granikov et al., 2016; Wald et al., 2007). Despite the advantages and positive outcomes of OCHI, seeking health information online can also lead to negative outcomes in various levels. These include internal level (such as increased worrying), interpersonal level (such as tension in the patientclinician relationship and postponing a clinical encounter), and/or service-related level (such as postponing a clinical encounter) (El Sherif et al., 2018, p.1). These possible disadvantages raise concerns over the content in the health information websites. El Sherif et al. (2018) has suggested some strategies to minimize the occurrence of the negative outcomes by providing reliable OCHI, educating the public to access the available online health resources, and encouraging health consumers to seek professional advice to clarify the OCHI they have found. As a result, the accuracy, reliability, suitability, and completeness of online health information continue to be a focus in every speciality of health care (Yan, 2010).

# 1.4.2 The Health on the Net Code of Contact – the validation of OCHI

The Health On the Net of Code of Conduct (HONcode) certification is a code to help the public recognising OCHI that is reliable and trustworthy (Boyer et al., 2007). The HONcode is only given to websites that have been assessed under eight principles, including authoritative, complementarity, privacy, attribution, justifiability, transparency, financial disclosure, and

sponsorship (Boyer et al., 2007). Besides that, it is easy and convenient for internet users to simply install the HONcode toolbar as an extension on the Chrome browser to identify the HONcode proven health information websites. However, not all online health websites have applied for this validation process.

### 1.4.3 Prevalence of Seeking OCHI and Online Health Information Seeking Behaviour

In HK and TW, statistics showed that 92.6% (22 million) people in TW and 89.3% (6.6 million) people in HK were Internet users (Internet World Stats, 2020a). TW placed fourth and HK placed fifth in internet penetration within the Asia region in January 2020. In HK and TW, Google is the most commonly utilised search engine, used by 89.45% and 92.45% of internet users respectively in May 2020 (Statcounter, 2020a; 2020b).

Several studies indicated that a significant proportion of people in HK and TW had experience seeking health information on the Internet. A study by Chang et al. (2015b), involving 1365 parents and 1869 adolescents in TW, showed 73% of parents and 60% of adolescents using the Internet to access health information. In Wong and Cheung's (2019) crosssectional study of online health information-seeking behaviour in HK, 87.4% of 1162 primary care patients have searched for health information online. Wei (2014) identified that individuals who tend to seek health information online were more likely to have adequate health literacy and higher educational background than those with inadequate/ marginal health literacy and poorer educational levels overall. These findings are consistent with other studies (Jacobs et al., 2017; Wong & Cheung, 2019; Yan 2010). Wong and Cheung's (2019) study stated the main reason for seeking health information online was due to "noticing new symptoms or change in health", and the search keywords were generally symptoms experienced. Similar findings were noted in previous studies (Chang et al., 2015b; Jacobs et al., 2017; Pang et al., 2014; Wei, 2014). In Chu (2017), most participants reported "limited time" and "lack of time to discuss or elaborate on certain issues" with the doctor during consultations; therefore, OCHI was perceived as a valuable resource and a second option for enhancing their health knowledge. Some participants also reported that it was due to their desire to increase knowledge in health-promoting behaviour, the symptoms of a specific disease, and the treatment for a medical condition (Wei, 2014). Other reasons included preparing for medical consultation, seeking clarification on information given by the medical professional, and the need for additional information on professional opinions (Wei, 2014).

Studies in HK identified the main criteria of choosing online health resources included "convenience" and "easy to understand", then "top results from search engines" (Wong & Cheung, 2019; Chu, 2017) which are also consistent with other studies (Andreassen et al., 2007; Maon et al., 2017). Furthermore, the types of websites that people would generally visit were professional health websites that are impartial and reputable, such as hospital, government, disease-focused organisations, or university websites (Chu, 2017; Maon et al., 2017; Yan, 2010).

# 1.5 Health literacy

# 1.5.1 Definition and Importance of health literacy

The term 'health literacy' has appeared in health literatures for more than 30 years (Ad Hoc Committee on Health Literacy, 1999). It is the relationship between the literacy level of an individual and his/her ability to obtain, process and implement the prescribed therapeutic

regimens (Ad Hoc Committee on Health Literacy, 1999; Kindig et al., 2004; Nutbeam, 1998b), while "eHealth literacy" involves the use of electronic sources. This infers that an individual's health literacy skills help to seek, comprehend, appraise information, make appropriate decisions, take prompt actions about his/her health state and take part in executing and evaluating intervention (Nielsen-Bohlman, Panzer, & Kindig, 2004; Levin-Zamir, Leung, Dodson, & Rowlands, 2017; Nutbeam, 1998a; Nutbeam 2000). It is a key determinant of health outcomes (HLS-EU Consortium, 2012; Nutbeam, 2009). Several studies have identified factors that can affect the health literacy level of an individual, including gender, age, education levels, household poverty, employment status, marital status, academic performance rates and urban or rural residence (Berkman et al., 2011; Chang et al., 2015b; Doak, Doak, & Root, 1985; Jayasinghe et al., 2016; Nutbeam 2000; Wei, 2014; Wilson, 2009; Wong & Cheung 2019).

#### 1.5.2 Impact of health literacy on health outcomes

In the early 90s, Weiss et al. (1992) started assessing the relationship between literacy and health status. The physical health status of their subjects with low literacy levels were poorer than the subjects with higher literacy levels (Weiss et al., 1992). Individuals with lower health literacy were also more passive in seeking health information and had relatively poor abilities in obtaining, appraising, and utilizing information relevant to health (Nutbeam, 2009; Sørensen et al., 2012; Wei, 2014). Low health literacy increases difficulties communicating one's own health conditions and issues, having lower awareness and less understanding of own health conditions, health prevention and health information, which may lead to delay of treatment and affect health outcomes (Berkman et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2002). Patients with limited health literacy also reported worse overall health status, higher rates of hospitalisation, and less understanding of treatment options (Williams et al., 2002). Hence, the lower the health literacy, the poorer the health outcomes.

# 1.5.3 Literacy Level and Recommended RGL for CHI

The accessibility of CHI is closely related to the level of the reading materials. By ensuring the appropriateness and provision of comprehensible online information on hearing-related health websites, public hearing-health literacy capacities should improve. If health information is too difficult for the public to comprehend, the information will remain inaccessible to people with low reading ability and low health literacy levels. In 1996, Doak et al. highlighted the mismatch between literacy of health consumers and readability of the health-related materials. In the U.S., the average literacy level of adults is approximately at an 8<sup>th</sup> to 9<sup>th</sup> reading grade level (RGL) (Paasche-Orlow et al., 2005; Kutner et al., 2006). According to Boyd (1987), health education materials should be 2 to 4 reading grades below the average RGL of adult health consumers. Thus, the recommendation for CHI in the English language was suggested to be at the 6<sup>th</sup> RGL or below (Doak et al., 1996; Leonard, 2017). However, many studies have revealed the readability of a substantial portion of OCHI in English exceeds the recommended 6<sup>th</sup> RGL, and the mean RGL produced by different formulas ranged from 10<sup>th</sup> to 15<sup>th</sup> (Cheng & Dunn, 2015; Daraz et al, 2018; Hutchinson et al., 2016; Walsh & Volsko, 2008).

There is no data suggesting the average literacy level of adults who can read TC in HK and TW. Hence, no recommended RGL of CHI or OCHI in TC has been suggested by researchers. The Ministry of Education in HK and TW implemented a 9-year compulsory education scheme from 1977 and 1968 respectively (Education Bureau, 1997; Ministry of Education Republic of China, 2018). Recently, they have changed to a 12-year compulsory education scheme (Education Bureau, 2020; Ministry of Education Republic of China, 2018). The average reading level of the TC adult population in HK and TW should reach at least the 9<sup>th</sup> RGL of TC. Hence, the recommended "6<sup>th</sup> RGL or below" can also be implemented on OCHI written in TC. However, an individual's literacy level may not be consistent with his or her education level (Wilson & McLemore, 1997) and the average literacy level can only be an estimation. There is a still major gap in assessing the readability of OCHI written in TC language.

# 1.6 Measures

- 1.6.1 Readability
- 1.6.1.1 English Readability

Readability is defined as the legibility, ease of reading, and ease of understanding of a text (Klare, 1984; Ley & Florio, 1996). English readability formulas have been developed, validated, and applied widely in evaluating the comprehensibility of CHI written in English (Ley & Florio, 1996). There are more than 40 different readability formulas available for the English language (Redman, 2007) to generate a readability score and convert to a reading grade level for publishing health or non-health education materials. Ley and Florio (1996) stated a readability equation generally includes one or more of the following components into a numerical equation. These include average word length in syllables, average sentence length in words, the proportion of common words used, proportion of words with 3 or more syllables in them, and proportion of monosyllabic words (Ley & Florio, 1996).

The two most widely used readability formulae for evaluating English written health education materials include the Flesch Kincaid Grade Level (FKGL) (Kincaid et al., 1975) and

the Simple Measure of Gobbledygook (SMOG) (McLaughlin, 1969). They are computer-based formulas. The FKGL measures the average word length in syllables and average sentence length in words (Kincaid et al., 1975), whereas SMOG only measures the average word length in syllables (McLaughlin, 1969). The two formulas can generate different ranges of reading grade levels. The FKGL generates reading scores ranging from "4<sup>th</sup> grade or below" to "16<sup>th</sup> grade and above" (Dale & Chall, 1948), whereas SMOG scores range from grade level 4 to 18 (McLaughlin, 1969). Some research findings have reported the FKGL tends to generate a lower RGL rating than other readability formulas (Friedman & Hoffman-Goetz, 2006; Friedman & Kao, 2008). Some studies have also recommended using SMOG for analysing health education materials (Brangan, 2015; Contreras, Garcia-alonso, Echenique, & Daye-contreras, 1999; Doak, Doak, & Root, 1996; Shieh & Hosei, 2008). The inter-correlations between these two formulas are high (Meade & Smith, 1991). Ley and Florio (1996) suggested two options to solve the differences in estimated RGLs of more than one readability formula; to take the highest estimated RGL or to take the average RGL.

Additionally, the United States Department of Health and Human Services (USDHHS) suggested categorising RGLs into different ranges of difficulty and to report the level of difficulty instead of a specific RGL. The three readability categories include below or 6<sup>th</sup> RGL as "easy to read", 7<sup>th</sup> and 9<sup>th</sup> RGL as "average difficulty", and above 9<sup>th</sup> RGL as "difficult" (United States Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services [UCFM&MS], 2012, p.23).

### 1.6.1.2 Traditional Chinese Readability

Traditional Chinese language has many differences in linguistic features, including lexical, syntactic, semantic, contextual, and grammatical functions compared with English language (Wang & Chen, 2013). Several TC readability formulas have been developed in recent years to accommodate the needs of analysing written materials in TC, including Yang's readability formula (Yang, 1970), Jing's readability formula (Jing, 1992; 1995), Jeng's readability formula (Jeng, 2001) and the Chinese Readability Index Explorer (CRIE) (Sung et al., 2016).

The first developed TC Chinese readability formula was Yang's formula which analyses six components: character, bi-character word, sentence, multi-character word, complex stroke, and word list (Yang, 1970). It also analyses another three factors including the number of character that has more than 10 strokes, the average number of words per sentence and proportion of difficult words and simple words used (Yang, 1970). However, Yang (1970) only discussed the key factors that can affect readability. It lacks the empirical verification of the readability formula and is considered to have poor validity (Lau, 2006).

Jing's readability formula generates reading grade level by the average length of sentence, the length of the passage, and the proportion of frequent characters (Jing, 1992; 1995). It also involves two other elements, poetry and ancient Chinese which involves a different linguistic system. They are presented as binary decision value which means their value is either 1 (Yes, it is poetry/ ancient Chinese.) or 0 (No, it is not.). The database of the frequent character list was developed by words selected from the corpora of the TC language education materials for 1<sup>st</sup> to 6<sup>th</sup> grade in TW. There are 496 characters in the final character list. This list is limited and it does not refer to other external corpora. Other readability formula studies established common word lists through multiple corpus data, and then compared the ratio of the words used in the word inventory as the reference for the reading grade level (Dale & Chall, 1948;

McLaughlin, 1969; Yang, 1970). The process of character selection for Jing's formula database also lacks verification. Therefore, there is a limitation in analysing and applying the Jing's readability formula in analysis study. Previously, Jing's readability formula was developed into a web-based analysis system which means the RGL of any TC text can be generated through computer-based automatic calculation. However, the hyperlink for the computer-based Jing readability formula recently broke and can no longer be accessed by the public.

Jeng's (2001) study used an Artificial Neural Network (ANN) approach to develop a readability formula for analysis. The ANN approach is an overly complex computational process involving the combination of human judgements and mathematical models (Jeng, 2001). The factors in Jeng's formula are overly complicated for researchers to calculate the RGL of the written materials. The concepts of some elements in the formula are vague and overall makes it difficult to utilise this formula in this study.

The CRIE is the most recently developed, computer-based Chinese readability formula. It employs stepwise regression model and support vector machine (SVM) as its readability prediction modal (Sung et al., 2016). It involves three processes, the segmentation of sentences, part-of-speech tagging, and grammar parsing (Sung et al., 2015; Sung et al., 2016). Sung et al. (2015) showed an accuracy of 72.92% when using CRIE to predict the RGL of Grade 1-6 art textbooks used in TW. The computer-based system analyzes and presents the statistical data of each element in the Chinese passage. Elements analysed include the proportion of difficult words, simple sentence ratio, content word frequency in logarithmic and personal pronouns (Sung et al., 2015; Sung et al., 2016). Although the accuracy rate of the CRIE version 1.0 was only 55% (Sung et al., 2013) and the validity of applying CRIE to health education materials is

still questionable, it was utilised in Hsu et al. (2019) because it was easier to compute RGL and analyse a wider range of elements from the text compared to other TC readability formulas. Additionally, the CRIE formula has recently been updated to a 3.0 version on its web-based system (<u>www.chinesereadability.net/CRIE/?LANG=CNT</u>) (Chinese Readability Index Explorer [CRIE], 2019). There is no published article discussing its update and the specification of the latest version of this formula.

# 1.6.1.3 Previous studies

Many studies have applied the FKGL and SMOG readability formulas to evaluate the RGL of the English OCHI, including cancer, stroke, infertility, insomnia, mastectomy and lumpectomy resources (Lee et al., 2018; Ma et al., 2017; Robins et al., 2016; Tian et al., 2014; Tran et al., 2017; Walsh & Volsko, 2008). Research findings highlighted that the OCHI in the English language is generally written at a level above the 6<sup>th</sup> grade. Consistent findings were also found in English hearing-related health information on the internet (Felipe et al., 2020; Laplante-Lévesque et al., 2012; Laplante-Levesque et al., 2011; Laplante-Lévesque & Thorén, 2015; Manchaiah et al., 2019; Potter, 2015) using FKGL and SMOG formulas.

Hsu et al. (2019) study utilised Jing and CRIE readability formulas to evaluate the RGL of 32 hearing-related health webpages in TC. None of the selected hearing-related health webpages from Hsu et al. (2019) has obtained HONcode. The study discovered that the two TC formulas generated different RGL but have a high inter-correlation (Hsu et al., 2019). The research findings also reported that Jing tends to generate scores at 2 RGL higher than CRIE. CRIE formula identified 25% of the websites exceeded the recommended RGL of 6, with the highest RGL being 10. Jing's formula identified 81% of the websites exceeded 6th RGL with the

highest RGL being 12. The results indicated that online information on hearing-related websites in both TC and English language is generally difficult for the public to read. This reduces the chances of delivering hearing health information successfully due comprehension difficulties (Friedman & Hoffman-Goetz, 2006).

Hsu et al. (2019) suggested further evaluating the suitability of TC hearing-related health websites. Readability formulas only evaluate limited features, such as word length, sentence length and proportion of difficult words. Formulas have ignored the content, suitability, cohesion, writing style, and completeness of the information presented, such as visual attractiveness, layout, graphics, use of vocabulary, and cultural factors (Caposecco et al., 2011; Meade & Smith, 1991; Redish, 2000). Furthermore, the difference and variability in scoring generated by different formulas support the limitations of solely using readability formula to access 'how readable' the information is (Finnie et al., 2010). Hence, suitability analysis should be conducted to compensate for the limitation of readability formulas and evaluate aspects that have been ignored (Doak et al., 1996; Meade & Smith 1991).

### 1.6.2 Suitability Analysis of English and TC written materials

Suitability is defined as the appropriateness of the information for a target population. Suitability Assessment of Materials (SAM) is a widely used and is a valid tool for evaluating the suitability of printed health education materials in English (Kelly-Campbell & Manchaiah, 2020; Lampert et al., 2016; Shieh & Hosei, 2008). It is a simple and quick tool with good reliability and validity for evaluating the elements of the written education materials that are ignored by readability analysis (Hoffmann & Ladner, 2012). It identifies specific factors that require modification to improve the quality of the written materials. SAM consists of 22 items under 6 different factors, including graphics, layout and typography, learning stimulation and motivation, and cultural appropriateness of the websites (Doak et al., 1996). It also includes readability as one of the evaluation components. Based on the specific criteria of the 22 items, each can be rated as 0 (not suitable), 1 (adequate), 2 (superior), or missing/ not applicable (NA). 'Missing or NA' means the material does not consist the corresponding component. Hence, it gives a maximum score of 44 if no item is missing. The score can then be converted into a percentage score and classified into three different levels of suitability – 'not suitable', 'adequate' or 'superior' (Doak et al., 1996). The following table summarizes the interpretation of the SAM percent score.

### Table 1.1

SAM Score in percentage	Level of suitability
0% - 39%	Not suitable
40% - 69%	Adequate
70% - 100%	Superior

The interpretation of SAM score in percentage.

SAM has also been translated into a Chinese version. SAM-Chinese version is shown to have an excellent content validity index for the total scale (Scale-Level-CVI = 0.99) (Chang et al., 2014). Chang et al. (2014) suggested that it is important to consider the language discrepancies while analysing Chinese-language text using SAM. The differences between the TC and the English version include the criteria for 'suitable line length and text type' and should be adjusted accordingly, and as the Chinese language has no 'capital characters', the original evaluation criterion "NO ALL CAPS for long headers or running text" can be ignored.

### 1.6.2.1 Previous studies

Researches have utilized SAM and SAM-Chinese version in evaluating different consumer health information in English and Traditional Chinese, such as prenatal health (Shieh & Hosei, 2008), asthma (Tzeng & Gau, 2018; Chang, 2012), cancer (Helitzer et al., 2009), hearing-related health information (Caposecco, Hickson, & Meyer, 2014; Convery et al., 2011; Elmadani, 2019; McMullan et al., 2018; Ming & Kelly-Campbell, 2018; Potter, 2015).

Suitability Assessment of Materials not only provides the level of suitability of the materials but it also identifies areas that require improvement. In Caposecco et al. (2014) study, results showed the mean of suitability of hearing aid user guides was 52.42 (adequate level). Specific factors included the scope of information, vocabulary, layout and typography, and readability required improvement (Caposecco et al., 2014). Elmadani (2019) used SAM to assess the suitability of online noise-induced hearing loss (ONIHL) information and provided specific comments for how the materials can be improved. The authors or website host organization can then receive specific comments on how to improve factors that are rated as not suitability of hearing-related health materials by following the results from SAM and the best-practice guidelines written by Doak et al. (1996) (Convery et al., 2011; McMullan et al., 2018; Ming & Kelly-Campbell; 2018). These findings highlight the efficacy of assessing the suitability of hearing-related health information using SAM.

### 1.6.3 Correlation between readability and suitability

Doak et al. (1996), who developed the SAM, suggested an association between

readability and suitability; an increase in RGL can usually lead to a decrease in SAM score. That is to say, the higher the reading grade level of the materials, the harder it is for the health consumers to understand. Some studies have shown a significant correlation between the two variables (Elmadani, 2019; Robins et al., 2016). Robins et al. (2016) looked at the readability and suitability of infertility web-based information in English and showed a weak negative association between RGL and SAM (Pearson's r(28) = -.39, p = <.001). Whereas Elmadani (2019) showed a weak positive association (Pearson's r(30) = .45, p = .01) between the readability and suitability of online NIHL information in English. Abou-Diab et al. (2019) found no significant correlation between the readability and suitability scores, and by changing the readability formula it changes the correlation between RGL and SAM scores. Hence, this suggests it is important to separate analysis between the two variables.

# 1.7 The Aims of Study

In recent study, Hsu et al. (2019) assessed the readability of some hearing-related health webpages in TC and showed a substantial portion of the webpages exceeded 6<sup>th</sup> RGL. To date, it was the first and the only study to access the readability of hearing-related online materials presented in TC language. In addition, there is still a major gap in identifying the content suitability and design of online hearing-related health information in TC which has never been accessed before. Hence, suitability analysis should be conducted to provide more insight on the quality of hearing-related health websites in TC. The purpose of this current study was to determine the readability and suitability of the online hearing-related health information in TC. For comparison purposes, this study also compared and discussed the readability and suitability between the TC and English materials provided by the same website host organization.

# 1.7.1 Research Questions

- 1. What is the readability of online hearing-related health information in TC and English?
- 2. What is the suitability of online hearing-related health information in TC and English?
- 3. Is there any difference in the readability and suitability of the selected online materials between the two languages?

# 1.7.2 Research Hypotheses

1.7.2.1 RGL of hearing-related webpages based on language

1a) The median RGL of the webpages in TC is not significantly greater than 6<sup>th</sup> RGL.

1b) The median RGL of the webpages in English is not significantly greater than 6<sup>th</sup> RGL.

# 1.7.2.2 Suitability level of hearing-related webpages based on language

2a) The average suitability rating of the online information in TC is not significantly greater than 40%, indicating the online hearing health materials are reaching the adequate suitability level.

2b) The average suitability rating of the online information in English is not significantly greater than 40%, indicating the online hearing health materials are reaching the adequate suitability level.

# 1.7.2.3 Correlation between RGL and SAM score based on language

3a) It is hypothesized there is no significant correlation between the RGL and the suitability for the webpages in TC.

3b) It is hypothesized there is no significant correlation between the RGL and the suitability for the webpages in English.

#### 1.7.2.4 Between-group comparison of RGL and Suitability level

No previous studies have compared the results of readability and suitability in Traditional Chinese and English from the same website. Therefore, a secondary aim of this study is to compare the RGL and the suitability rating obtained for each webpage in both languages.

4a) The median RGL of webpages in TC is not significantly different from the median RGL in English.

4b) The median suitability rating of webpages in TC is not significantly different form the median suitability of webpages in English.

# Chapter 2 Methods

# 2.1 Overview

This current study is an extension of Hsu et al. (2019) and aims to investigate the readability and suitability of hearing-related health webpages which provide information in TC, and to compare the ratings of the TC material with the English version of the material retrieved from the same websites. This study has obtained University of Canterbury ethics approval (see Appendix). This following chapter will outline the evaluation methods of readability and suitability. First, TC readability will be assessed using CRIE, and English readability will be assessed using FKGL and SMOG. Second, the suitability of webpages in both languages will be evaluated using SAM and SAM-Chinese evaluation forms.

# 2.2 Search Terms and Internet Search

This study applied the same search terms that were identified in Hsu et al. (2019) study. The 13 keywords include 耳朵 (Ear), 聽力 (Hearing ability), 耳聾 (Deaf), 耳朵聽不清楚 (Can't hear properly), 聽不清楚 (Can't hear properly), 重聽 (Hard of hearing), 聽力障礙 (Hearing impairment), 聽力退化 (Hearing deterioration), 助聽器 (Hearing aids), 聽力治療 (Hearing intervention), 聽覺受損 (Hearing damage), 重聽治療法 (Treatment for hard-of-hearing), and 耳 鳴 (Tinnitus) (Hsu, 2017).

A MacBook Air with macOS Catalina (version 10.15.5) operating system was used to conduct the online webpage search. An online search of all 13 keywords from Hsu et al. (2019) was completed on google.com using the Chrome browser (Version 84.0.4147.89) with HONcode

toolbar (Version 3.1.3) installed. The search setting was set up with 20 results per page and the search region as HK and TW. In the advanced search setting, the language of search results was also narrowed to TC only. The function of automatic translating SC to TC was switched off to ensure all the webpages were originally written in TC language. The first 20 results of each keyword from the internet search were recorded, resulting in a total of 520 webpages.

# 2.3 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

This research applied similar inclusion and exclusion criteria as Hsu et al. (2019). Yet, there are two additional inclusion criteria in this study for comparing the readability and suitability of the hearing-related health information in TC and English. To minimise the difference in factors like the origin, types of organization and types of content, only TC webpages that provide an English version of the same content were included in this study.

The inclusion criteria of this current study are stated as follow: the webpage must (1) provide hearing-related health information in TC, (2) a direct link to an English version of the same information from the same webpage organization, (3) contain information relating to hearing loss, hearing assessments or hearing treatments (Hsu et al., 2019), (4) be available for public access (Hsu et al., 2019), (5) allow text to be copied and pasted (Hsu et al., 2019), (6) contain the information of the hosting organization (Hsu et al., 2019).

The exclusion criteria from Hsu et al. (2019) study included "the webpage must not: (1) be a Google identified advertisement, (2) be a video or a video hosting website, (3) be an animation, (4) be an image, (5) be a directory listing, (6) contain less than 100 words in length, (7) only contain information relevant to paediatric or congenital hearing loss, (8) only contain

information about tinnitus, and (9) only contain information about vision, the vestibular system, and tumors or other brain lesions". Duplicate webpages were identified. A result of 17 webpages in TC met all the criteria to be included in this study.

# 2.4 Collection of webpage information and content

The plain text on each selected webpage was copied and pasted in Microsoft word documents. Each word document was saved as text files (.txt). A Microsoft Excel file was also created to record the uniform resource locator (URL) of each webpage, the name, location, and type of the host organization, the language used for presenting information, types of hearing information presented and whether the webpage has granted the HON certification. The types of host organizations were classified into non-profit and profit, and the content of hearing information were categorized. To identify whether the webpage was granted the HON certification, the HONcode toolbar on Chrome was utilized.

# 2.5 Computer-based Readability Formulas

### 2.5.1 Traditional Chinese Readability Analysis

The readability of TC materials was assessed using the computer-based CRIE system (<u>http://www.chinesereadability.net/CRIE/?LANG=CHT</u>) Chinese Readability Index Explorer [CRIE], 2019). The CRIE 3.0 is the latest version that was used in this study. CRIE provides a readability formula to generate the reading grade level of the text, as the system does not directly assign a RGL for the users. The formula generates the RGL based on the following four textual features: 'proportion of difficulty words' (難詞數), 'simple sentence ratio' (單句數比率),

'content word frequency in logarithmic' (實數頻對數平均) and 'personal pronouns' (人稱代名 詞數) (Sung et al., 2016).

First, textural features were chosen from the list on the CRIE system. All TC text files were then compressed into one zip file. The zip file was uploaded onto the CRIE system, and the analysis results were outputted and saved as a Microsoft Excel file. The raw numerical data of the textural features for each webpage were input into the CRIE readability formula (Sung et al., 2016) to generate the RGL and saved manually in a Microsoft Excel file for data analysis.

# 2.5.2 English Readability Analysis

English readability analysis was also assessed using WebFX online analysis system (http://webfx.com/tools/read-able) (WebFX, 2020). This online system generates RGLs based on all the most frequently used English readability formulas. These include Flesch Kincaid Reading Ease, FKGL, Gunning Fog Score, Coleman Liau Index, Automated Readability Index, and SMOG index. This study used the FKGL and the SMOG index to generate an average RGL for statistical analysis.

Plain texts from each English webpage were copied and pasted into a Microsoft word document. This was strictly for data recording purposes. The selected English texts were then directly pasted on the textbox of the readability system. The length of the text should be at least 30 sentences or more for the SMOG index. There is a minimum 100-word requirement for the FKGL (Kincaid et al., 1975). The results were generated by the readability system and were inputted manually into a Microsoft Excel file for data analysis.

#### 2.6 SAM analysis

After obtaining the average RGL for each webpage, the study proceeded to assess the suitability of the materials on the hearing-related health webpage. Both the original SAM (English) version and the SAM-Chinese version were utilized in this study. The Chinese version was validated and translated from the original SAM (Doak et al., 1996) that was designed for printed materials. Hence, researchers selected a version of SAM based on the language of the materials that they rated on. The ratings for all factors were recorded on a Microsoft Excel file, including the total suitability score and the percentage score. The percentage ratings were then interpreted as three different levels of suitability (superior, adequate, and not suitable). However, the level of suitability was used strictly for discussion purposes and was not included in the statistics. Instead, the numerical percentage score was used to make more precise analyses of variance.

To test the reliability of the SAM rating results, two other researchers were assigned to rate one trial on half of the selected TC and English materials. In this research, Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was conducted to test inter-rater reliability. The SAM ratings between researchers were compared, and the level of agreement between two evaluators was presented in the value of ICC which is the mean of k evaluators. The value of ICC is range from 0 to 1 (Koo & Li, 2015). '0' indicates the level of agreement is random or no agreement, and as the value closer to '1' which indicates excellent agreement. The general guideline of interpreting the value of ICC is as follow: values less than 0.5 are indicative of poor reliability, 0.5 to 0.75 indicate moderate reliability, 0.75 to 0.9 indicate good reliability, and greater than 0.90 indicate excellent reliability (Koo & Li, 2015; Portney & Watkins, 2009).

# 2.7 Statistics

SPSS Statistics version 25 (IBM Corp, 2017) was utilized for statistical analysis. Descriptive statistics was conducted to find the median, minimum, maximum, range and outliers of RGL and SAM scores. One-sample Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test was utilized to address hypothesis 1a, 1b, 2a and 2b. ICC was calculated to estimate the interrater reliability of the SAM ratings between two evaluators. The Mann-Whitney Test was utilized to address hypothesis 4a and 4b. To address hypotheses 3a and 3b, correlation between readability and SAM scores were analysed by Spearman's rho correlation, which is a non-parametric tool that measures the dependence of the two factors to one another on a scale of 0 to 1. Correlations present as a Rvalue; weak correlation is below 0.39, moderate correlation is between 0.40 to 0.59, and strong correlation is above 0.60.

# Chapter 3 Results

# 3.1 Overview

The aims of this current study were 1) to determine the readability and suitability of the hearing-related health webpages in TC, and 2) to compare the readability and suitability between the online TC and English materials provided by the same host organization. Of the 520 webpages obtained during the internet search (13 search terms × first 20 results × 2 browser – Google.com.hk and Google.com.tw), 17 webpages were included in the analyses after the removal of duplicates and application of the inclusion and exclusion criteria. All final 17 webpages have the same hearing-related health information in TC and English version. Sixteen of them were profit, only one webpage was non-profit. All the host organizations of the webpages were located in Hong Kong. None of the selected webpages had obtained HON certification.

The content from the webpages in both languages were copied and sorted into two groups based on language. Table 3.1 shows the language and URL of the selected webpages including the webpage ID. Table 3.2 includes webpage ID, information about the organization name, type of webpage content and type of host organization.

This following chapter will outline the descriptive statistical analysis and the results of the hypothesis testing.

# Table 3.1

	Traditional Chinese	English			
ID	URL	ID	URL		
1	https://www.medel.com/hk/hearing-loss/	18	https://www.medel.com/about-hearing/types-of-hearing-loss		
2	https://www.otichearing.com/adult-hearing-test/	19	https://www.otichearing.com/en/adult-hearing-test/		
3	https://www.optical88.com.hk/hearing/zh/hearing-info/	20	https://www.optical88.com.hk/hearing/hearing-info/		
4	http://www.ear.com.hk/zh-TW/audiology/audiology-services	21	http://www.ear.com.hk/en/audiology/audiology-services		
5	https://www.phonak.com.hk/tc/hearing-problem.php	22	https://www.phonak.com.hk/en/hearing-problem.php		
6	http://odcb.org.hk/b5_content.php?sid=4&cid=11⊂=1	23	http://odcb.org.hk/en_content.php?sid=4&cid=11⊂=1		
7	https://gleneagles.hk/tc/medical-conditions/hearing-loss	24	https://gleneagles.hk/medical-conditions/hearing-loss		
8	http://www.union.org/audiology/tc/adult.php	25	http://www.union.org/audiology/en/adult.php		
9	https://www.kamhearing.com.hk/index.php?route=information/information&information_id=77	26*			
10	https://www.kamhearing.com.hk/index.php?route=information/information&information_id=79	27*			
11	https://www.kamhearing.com.hk/index.php?route=information/information&information_id=82	28*			
12	https://www.phonak.com.hk/tc/hearing-product.php	29	https://www.phonak.com.hk/en/hearing-product.php		
13	https://www.optical88.com.hk/hearing/zh/services/hearing-assessment/	30	https://www.optical88.com.hk/hearing/services/hearing-assessment/		
14	https://www.optical88.com.hk/hearing/zh/product/products-hearing-aids/	31	https://www.optical88.com.hk/hearing/product/products-hearing-aids/		
15	https://www.otichearing.com/hearing-aids-and-types-of-hearing-aids/	32	https://www.otichearing.com/en/hearing-aids-and-types-of-hearing-aids/		
16	https://www.widexhongkong.com.hk/zh-hk/about-hearing-loss	33	https://www.widexhongkong.com.hk/en-HK/about-hearing-loss		
17	https://www.medel.com/hk/audiogram/	34	https://www.medel.com/about-hearing/audiogram		

*The URL of hearing-related webpages selected after matching against inclusion and exclusion criteria.* 

\*The hearing-related health information in TC and English from KAM Hearing Health Hong Kong Limited shared the same URL.

# Table 3.2

The information of hearing-related webpages selected after matching against inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Lang	uage					
TC	EN	Organization Name	Type of content	Type of organization		
ID	ID	•				
1	18	Medel	Hearing loss	Profit		
2	19	Otic	Hearing assessments	Profit		
3	20	Optical 88	Optical 88 Hearing care			
4	21	ENT Laser	Hearing aids	Profit		
5	22	Phonak	Hearing information	Profit		
6	23	ODCB	Hearing aids	Non profit		
7	24	Gleneagles	Hearing loss and treatments	Profit		
8	25	Union	Hearing assessments	Profit		
9	26	KAM hearing	Hearing loss	Profit		
10	27	KAM hearing	AM hearing Hearing aids			
11	28	KAM hearing	Hearing aids	Profit		
12	29	Phonak	Hearing aids	Profit		
13	30	Optical 88	Hearing assessments	Profit		
14	31	Optical 88	Hearing aids	Profit		
15	32	Otic	Hearing aids	Profit		
16	33	Widex	Hearing loss	Profit		
17	34	Medel	Audiogram	Profit		

#### 3.2 Descriptive Statistics

# 3.2.1 Readability

Chinese Readability Index Explorer generated a RGL for each webpage in TC and were displayed in Figure 3.1. FKGL and the SMOG index generated a RGL for each webpage in English. An average English RGL was calculated for each webpage and the average RGLs were displayed in Figure 3.2.

Statistical analysis indicated that there was significant bias and outliers as shown in Figure 3.3. These violated the assumption of normality. Therefore, non-parametric testing was used. Median readability level for all the webpages in TC was 4.54 and 11.05 for the webpages in English. The box plot in Figure 3.3 shows the spread of webpages' RGL for each language group. The webpage in TC language with the minimum RGL was Optical88 Hearing aids (Webpage ID: 14) with a RGL of 3.21 while the maximum RGL was Phonak Hearing info (Webpage ID: 5) with a RGL of 10.78. The webpage in English language with the lowest CRIE RGL was Otic Hearing aids (Webpage ID: 32) with a RGL of 6.40 while the highest was ODCB Hearing aids (Webpage ID: 23) with a RGL of 17.75.

#### 3.2.2 Suitability

There were initially 22 items established in SAM; however, only 21 items were rated in this study. This was because webpages are not like books, they do not have a cover page or cover graphic. Hence, the researchers decided to exclude item 3a '*Cover graphic*'. According to the criteria of SAM, the 21 items were rated as either 'Not suitable' (0 point), 'Adequate' (1 point), 'Superior' (2 points) or 'Missing' (NA). One 'missing' item will minus 2 points from the total

possible score. A percent score was generated by adding the given points and dividing by the total possible score [i.e. percent score = total points/total possible score  $\times$  100 (42 = 21 items  $\times$  2 maximum points per item  $\times$  100)]. The total SAM score were then translated into three levels of suitability: 0% to 39% as 'not suitable', 40% to 69% as 'adequate', and 70% to 100% as 'superior'.

Additionally, a converted suitability percent score was also generated for each of the SAM items which is a mean score per item. The overall converted suitability percent scores of all 17 webpages were 55.88% and 52.94% in TC and English respectively, which represents adequate suitability when all the webpages were taken together. Table 3.3 and Table 3.4 presents the frequencies and the converted suitability percent score per rating item for each language group.

Statistical analysis indicated there were bias and significant outliers as shown in Figure 3.4, hence, non-parametric testing was used. Median total SAM percent score for all the webpages in TC was 60% (adequate), and for the webpages in English was 57.50% (adequate). The webpage in TC language with the minimum suitability level was Optical 88 Hearing assessment (Webpage ID: 13) with a rating of 37.4% (not suitable) while the maximum was Optical 88 Hearing care (Webpage ID: 3) with a rating of 80% (superior). The webpage in English language with the lowest suitability level was again Optical 88 Hearing assessment (Webpage ID: 30) with a rating of 30% (not suitable) while the highest was MED-EL Hearing assessment (Webpage ID: 34) with a rating of 76.2% (superior).

The ICC for inter-rater reliability was between good and excellent at 0.84 to 0.98 (p < .001) for TC webpages, and 0.78 to 0.94 (p < .001) for English webpages.

# Table 3.3

Summary of frequency of Suitability Assessment of Material (SAM) scores by webpages in TC. Converted percent =  $([number of websites \times 0 point] + [number of websites \times 1 point] + [number of websites \times 2 points]) \div total possible best scores (34 = 17 websites \times 2 maximum points per item) × 100.$ 

Webpages in TC (n=17)	Frequency								
	Not suitable Adequate			Su	perior	Missing		Converted	
	I I	(0)		(1)		(2)		(NA)	%
SAM factor and items	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	
1 Content									
1a. Purpose	1	5.88%	2	11.76%	14	82.35%			88.24%
1b. Content topics	11	64.71%	3	17.65%	3	17.65%			26.47%
1c. Scope	2	11.76%	2	11.76%	13	76.47%			82.35%
1d. Summary and review	17	100.00%	0		0				0.00%
2 Literacy demand									
2a. Reading Grade Level (RGL)	3	17.65%	1	5.88%	13	76.47%			79.41%
2b. Writing Style	1	5.88%	6	35.29%	10	58.82%			76.47%
2c. Common vocabulary	2	11.76%	9	52.94%	6	35.29%			61.76%
2d. Context given first	2	11.76%	2	11.76%	13	76.47%			82.35%
2e. Learning enhancement by advance organizers (use of 'road signs')	3	17.65%	3	17.65%	11	64.71%			73.53%
3 Graphics									
3a. Cover graphic shows purpose	0		0		0		17	100.00%	NA
3b. Type of illustration	1	5.88%	7	41.18%	7	41.18%	2	11.76%	61.76%
3c. Relevance of illustrations	3	17.65%	6	35.29%	6	35.29%	2	11.76%	52.94%
3d. Graphics: lists, tables, graphs, charts, geometric forms	0	0.00%	3	17.65%	4	23.53%	10	58.82%	NA
3e. Captions used to explain graphics	6	35.29%	1	5.88%	8	47.06%	2	11.76%	50.00%
4 Layout and typography									
4a. Layout factors	0		7	41.18%	10	58.82%			79.41%
4b. Typography	1	5.88%	10	58.82%	6	35.29%			64.71%
4c. Subheadings or 'chucking' used	1	5.88%	5	29.41%	9	52.94%	2	11.76%	67.65%
5 Learning stimulation and motivation									
5a. Interaction included in text/ graphic	13	76.47%	4	23.53%	0				11.76%
5b. Desired behaviour modelled, shown in specific	12	70.59%	3	17.65%	2	11.76%			20.59%
5c. Motivation	3	17.65%	2	11.76%	12	70.59%			76.47%
6 Cultural appropriateness									
6a. Match in logic, language and experience (LLE)	1	5.88%	5	29.41%	11	64.71%			79.41%
6b. Cultural image and examples	0		17	100.00%	0				50.00%
Overall average	1	5.88%	13	76.47%	3	17.65%			55.88%

# Table 3.4

Summary of frequency of Suitability Assessment of Material (SAM) scores by webpages in English. Converted percent =([number of websites  $\times$  0 point] + [number of websites  $\times$  1 point] + [number of websites  $\times$  2 points])  $\div$  total possible best scores (34 = 17 websites  $\times$  2 maximum points per item)  $\times$  100.

Webpages in EN (n=17)	Frequency								
	Not suitable Adequate Superior				ľ	Missing	Converted		
		(0)		(1)		(2)		(NA)	%
SAM factor and items	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	
1 Content									
1a. Purpose	0		0		17	100.00%			100.00%
1b. Content topics	11	64.71%	5	29.41%	1	5.88%			20.59%
1c. Scope	1	5.88%	4	23.53%	12	70.59%			82.35%
1d. Summary and review	17	100.00%	0		0				0.00%
2 Literacy demand									
2a. Reading Grade Level (RGL)	13	76.47%	4	23.53%	0				11.76%
2b. Writing Style	2	11.76%	10	58.82%	5	29.41%			58.82%
2c. Common vocabulary	5	29.41%	7	41.18%	5	29.41%			50.00%
2d. Context given first	0		5	29.41%	12	70.59%			85.29%
2e. Learning enhancement by advance organizers (use of 'road signs')	1	5.88%	0		16	94.12%			94.12%
3 Graphics									
3a. Cover graphic shows purpose	0		0		0		17	100.00%	NA
3b. Type of illustration	3	17.65%	6	35.29%	7	41.18%	1	5.88%	58.82%
3c. Relevance of illustrations	4	23.53%	5	29.41%	7	41.18%	1	5.88%	55.88%
3d. Graphics: lists, tables, graphs, charts, geometric forms	0		3	17.65%	4	23.53%	10	58.82%	NA
3e. Captions used to explain graphics	9	52.94%	2	11.76%	5	29.41%	1	5.88%	35.29%
4 Layout and typography									
4a. Layout factors	0		5	29.41%	12	70.59%			85.29%
4b. Typography	0		8	47.06%	9	52.94%			76.47%
4c. Subheadings or 'chucking' used	1	5.88%	5	29.41%	10	58.82%	1	5.88%	73.53%
5 Learning stimulation and motivation									
5a. Interaction included in text/ graphic	14	82.35%	3	17.65%	0				8.82%
5b. Desired behaviour modelled, shown in specific	12	70.59%	2	11.76%	3	17.65%			23.53%
5c. Motivation	3	17.65%	3	17.65%	11	64.71%			73.53%
6 Cultural appropriateness									
6a. Match in logic, language and experience (LLE)	1	5.88%	6	35.29%	10	58.82%			76.47%
6b. Cultural image and examples	0		17	100.00%	0				50.00%
Overall average	2	11.76%	12	70.59%	3	17.65%			52.94%

# 3.3 Hypotheses

3.3.1 Reading grade level (RGL) of hearing-related webpages based on language

Hypothesis 1(a): The median RGL of the webpages in TC is not significantly greater than 6. A one-sample Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test revealed that the data supported this hypothesis: Z(17) = 49.0, p(asym) = .193.

Hypothesis 1(b): The median RGL of the webpages in English is not significantly greater than 6. A one-sample Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test revealed that the data did not support this hypothesis: Z(17) = 153.0, p(asym) < .001.

# 3.3.2 Suitability level of hearing-related webpages based on language

Hypothesis 2(a): The median Suitability of the webpages in TC is not significantly greater than 40. A one-sample Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test revealed that the data did not support this hypothesis: Z(17) = 152.0, p(asym) < .001.

Hypothesis 2(b): The median Suitability of the webpages in English is not significantly greater than 40. A one-sample Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test revealed that the data did not support this hypothesis: Z(17) = 146.5, p(asym) = .001.

#### 3.2.3 Correlation between RGL and Suitability based on language

Hypothesis 3(a): There is no significant correlation between RGL and suitability for the webpages in TC. A Spearman's rho correlation revealed that the data supported this hypothesis: rs(17) = .017, p = .950.

Hypothesis 3(b): There is no significant correlation between RGL and suitability for the webpages in English. A Spearman's rho correlation revealed that the data supported this hypothesis: rs(17) = -.596, p = .012.

#### 3.2.4 Between-group comparison of reading grade level and suitability level

Hypothesis 4(a): The median RGL of webpages in TC is not significantly different from the median RGL of webpages in English. A Mann-Whitney Test revealed that the data did not support this hypothesis: U(34) = 17.00, p < .001.

Hypothesis 4(b): The median suitability of webpages in TC is not significantly different from the median suitability of webpages in English. A Mann-Whitney Test revealed that the data supported this hypothesis: U(34) = 119.0, p = .389.

# Figure 3.1

Bar graph of the RGLs of hearing-related webpages presented in TC. A red horizontal line marked is the recommended 6th RGL.



# Figure 3.2

Bar graph of the RGLs of hearing-related webpages presented in English. A red horizontal line marked is the recommended 6th RGL.



An Evaluation of the Readability and Suitability of Online Hearing-related Health Information in Traditional Chinese Page 43 of 68

# Figure 3.3

Boxplot of the readability levels of webpages in each language group; TC = Traditional Chinese, EN = English. The boxes represent the middle 50% of the readability of the webpages, the horizontal line inside the boxes represents the median. The vertical line on top of the boxes represents the upper 25% of webpages, the bottom vertical line represents the lower 25% of webpages. Three extreme values in the TC data set were plotted as separate points (potential outliers) on the boxplot (i.e. webpage 4,5, and 12). A red horizontal line marked is the recommended 6<sup>th</sup> RGL.



# Figure 3.3

Boxplot of the suitability levels of webpages in each language group. TC = Traditional Chinese; EN = English. The boxes represent the middle 50% of the readability of the webpages, the horizontal line inside the boxes represents the median. The vertical line on top of the boxes represents the upper 25% of webpages, the bottom vertical line represents the lower 25% of webpages. An extreme value in the TC data set was plotted as separate point (potential outlier) on the boxplot (i.e. webpage 13). A red horizontal line marked is the adequate level of SAM.



# Chapter 4 Discussion

# 4.1 Overview

The current study evaluated the reading level and suitability level of online TC hearingrelated health information and compared this the English version of the materials provided by the same webpage host organization.

The findings of this study indicated that a majority of TC online hearing-related health information was written at an accessible RGL for the TC-reading population. Whereas, the readability level of English materials was identified as difficult to read for the English-reading population. The results showed that online hearing-related health information in TC was significantly easier to read than the information written in English on the websites. This study also sought to appraise the suitability of the materials in TC and compare them with the English version. The Content and Learning stimulation and Motivation categories were rated with least suitable on SAM scores for the TC materials, suggesting the needs for improvement in those areas when developing online hearing-related health materials for the TC-reading population. For the English materials, apart from Content and Learning stimulation and Motivation, items in Literacy demand and Graphic categories were also rated least suitable on SAM scores. There was no significant difference between the suitability ratings of TC and the English version of the webpages.

The following sections will discuss these results regarding the literature and clinical implications for hearing health literacy, patient-centered care, and future research.

### 4.2 Readability and Suitability

# 4.2.1 Readability

The first hypothesis (1a) stated that the median readability of the webpages in TC is not significantly greater than the 6<sup>th</sup> RGL (Hsu et al., 2019). The results of this study were in accordance with the findings reported in Hsu et al. (2019), in which the median readability generated by CRIE was lower than the recommended 6<sup>th</sup> RGL and over 80% of the TC hearing-related health webpages were written below the 6<sup>th</sup> RGL. This also reflected that TC hearing-related health webpages are likely to be written below the 6<sup>th</sup> RGL. Yet the size of the analysis was small in both studies and the validity of the CRIE formula was debatable (Hsu et al., 2019; Sung et al., 2013).

Additionally, in this current study, three of 17 webpages that were rated above the 6<sup>th</sup> RGL were identified with a higher proportion of difficult words used compared to the other 14 webpages. Those 3 webpages contain more than 600 difficult words, and yet the other 14 webpages contain less than 400 difficult words. The use of technical terms or difficult words certainly increases the literacy demand for the target readers. This may hinder the outcome of enhancing the public health literacy level by providing CHI, especially for the low TC literacy populations (Doak et al. 1996).

Hypothesis 1b stated the median RGL of the webpages in English is not significantly greater than 6<sup>th</sup> RGL. The results of this study showed the median RGL of the English materials was significantly greater than the 6<sup>th</sup> RGL, and thus this result did not support hypothesis 1b. Yet these findings were unsurprising and were consistent with the high RGLs reported in other studies of online English hearing health information (Felipe et al., 2020; Laplante-Lévesque et

al., 2012; Laplante-Levesque et al., 2011; Laplante-Lévesque & Thorén, 2015; Manchaiah et al., 2019; Potter, 2015).

The readability scores from the English materials were significantly higher than the RGLs from the TC materials, indicating that the English version was harder to read than the TC version. Revising webpages that have exceeded 6<sup>th</sup> RGL is recommended. For example, rewriting the materials and limiting the use of medical jargon, difficult words, or vocabulary can reduce the literacy demand for the readers.

#### 4.2.2 Suitability

# 4.2.2.1 Suitability of Webpages written in TC language

The current study hypothesised that the median suitability rating of online information in TC is not significantly greater than 40%. The median suitability of online TC hearing-related health information was found to be 'adequate' and thus did not support hypothesis 2a. This means the online information in TC is appropriate for online health seekers to read. The findings of this study were in accordance with similar studies conducted in English materials (Caposecco et al., 2014; Convery et al., 2011; Elmadani, 2019; McMullan et al., 2018; Ming & Kelly-Campbell, 2018; Potter, 2015), which also found a majority of the online hearing-health information is generally at 'adequate' level.

The findings of this study showed two of 17 webpages in TC were rated as not suitable (<40%). The overall ratings for all TC webpages showed four SAM items were rated 'not suitable', including Content Topics, Summary and Review, Interaction included in texted or graphic, and Desired behaviour modelled. The suitability rating of the TC materials can be

improved by following the guidelines provided by the SAM instrument (Caposecco et al., 2011; Doak et al., 1996; Ming & Kelly-Campbell, 2018).

Within the Content category, purpose and scope were rated 'superior', content topics, and summary or review were rated 'not suitable'. 64.71% of the webpages were written with less than 40% of content topics focusing on desirable behaviours. For example, it should focus on ways of hearing protection and the importance of seeking hearing health professionals, rather than the pathophysiology of hearing loss. None of the webpages included a summary or review. This aspect can be easily improved by providing some key objectives on the webpage to promote retention of the presented information (Doak et al., 1996).

Within the Learning Stimulation and Motivation category, interaction and modelling of desired behaviour was rated 'not suitable', and motivation was rated 'superior'. Similar findings were also found in Elmadani (2019) on Noise Induced Hearing Loss online information. To enhance interaction, webpage developers can present information in a question-and-answer format to promote understanding. For example, giving multiple-choice questions with the answer provided, or providing a self-assessing questionnaire on hearing health knowledge. To improve modelling of the desired behaviour, a webpage can provide a checklist or step-to-step directions of the patient journey for the patients or readers to follow with.

Additionally, within the Graphics category, most of the websites did not include graphics. Considering the substantial percentage of non-applicable (NA) ratings, no converted percentage was calculated for this item (3d). Yet, webpages that included graphics were all rated 'adequate' or 'superior', as the illustrations were supported with clear captions and relevant to the content.

#### 4.2.2.2 Suitability of webpages written in English language

An Evaluation of the Readability and Suitability of Online Hearing-related Health Information in Traditional Chinese Page 49 of 68 The median SAM score of the English materials in this study was significantly greater than 40%, and 70% of the English materials were rated 'adequate'; thus, did not support hypothesis 2b. These findings were consistent with the 'adequate' ratings of online hearing health information reported in previous studies (Caposecco et al., 2014; Convery et al., 2011; Elmadani, 2019; McMullan et al., 2018; Ming & Kelly-Campbell, 2018; Potter, 2015).

There were six SAM items rated 'not suitable' among the webpages in English, including content topics, summary and review, RGL, captions used, interaction, and desired behaviour modelled. Four of these six items were also rated 'not suitable' in the TC materials which were discussed in previous section (4.2.2.1). The recommendation for reducing the RGL rating has also been discussed in the readability section (4.2.1). Lastly, within the Graphic category, 35.29% of webpages were rated 'not suitable' based on text captions used. This can be resolved by adding simple and explanatory captions alongside all illustrations and graphics (Doak et al., 1996).

There was no significant difference in SAM scores between the two language groups. Both language groups have the greatest proportion of webpages falling into the 'adequate' level -13 TC webpages and 12 English webpages. The materials in each language group contain different strengths and weaknesses. Those strengths and weaknesses add together to produce a similar overall effect on the suitability level. If webpage developers continue to improve the least suitable items on the webpages, less difference should be found between the two language groups. In short, the ultimate goals of evaluating the suitability of online hearing health information were to identify and improve the factors analyzed by SAM, create and improve the online resources to a 'superior' suitability level and promote hearing health knowledge and prevention to the general public.

#### 4.2.3 Correlation between Readability and Suitability levels

Based on the materials identified in this study, there was no significant correlation between RGL and SAM ratings in both TC materials and English materials. These findings were consistent with the results reported in Abou-Diab et al. (2019). However, some studies have reported a weak negative and positive correlation (Elmadani, 2019; Robins et al., 2016). Considering there are 22 items in SAM, RGL is only one of five items under the Literacy Demand category, hence, the strength of correlation between RGL and SAM ratings also depends on the ratings of other items. Only if all items are rated consistently 'not suitable' or 'superior', including RGL, a significant negative or positive correlation is likely to occur, as was suggested by Doak et al. (1996). This suggests that the suitability of online hearing-related health information can be heightened by enhancing the suitability of all items, not only readability.

# 4.3 Clinical Implications

#### 4.3.1 Improving Hearing Health Literacy

The internet is considered to be one of the major platforms for patients of all ages to seek information related to health conditions they have experienced (Chu, 2017; Wallhagen, 2009). Webpage developers and audiologists have the responsibility to create and ensure that online hearing-related health information is accessible and can be understood by the target population. Readable health information is particularly important to the low-literacy population (Doak et al., 1985). Improving the readability and suitability of online TC hearing-related health information can enhance the consumers' health literacy, promote health knowledge, empower patients and strengthen their sense of control over their health condition (Broom, 2005; Lambert & Loiselle, 2007). Improving health literacy leads to better communication, awareness, and understanding of own hearing conditions, hearing prevention, and hearing treatment options and outcomes. The findings of this study show online hearing-related health information in TC language is readable and the appropriateness of the information is considered at 'adequate' suitability. Yet, some areas still require improvement to achieve an 'adequate' level; other items that were rated 'adequate' can be further improved to a 'superior' level. Webpages developers and audiologists should use established instruments, the SAM best-practice guidelines, or web design guidelines to revise the online resources.

#### 4.3.2 Clinician-patient relationship and patient-centered communication skills

Numerous studies have reported that OCHI has significant positive effects on the delivery of health care service and the clinician-patient relationship (Iverson et al., 2008; Tan & Goonawardene, 2017; Wald et al., 2007). However, there are also potential disadvantages of patients seeking OCHI. The quality of OCHI can be highly variable and does not necessarily bring advantages to the health consumers and clinicians. Misleading or misinterpreting of OCHI can lead to reverse outcomes including increasing patient anxiety and stress, and lowering their trust in clinicians (El Sherif et al., 2018; Wald et al., 2007). Consequently, these can lead to a greater burden for clinicians in re-educating the patients, causing delayed treatment and poor health outcomes for the patients. Hence, it is important to ensure not only readability and suitability but also the reliability of online health resources.

In addition, patient-centered communication skills are important in the process of health care (Berkhof et al., 2010; Ha et al., 2010). King & Hoppe (2013, p.390) summarized some effective communication skills including attentive listening skills, use of open-ended questions, being clear and concise minimising the use of jargon, using repetition, using simple language,

clarifying, emphasising, and summarising key information. Clinicians can also take the initiative in asking their patients if they have searched health information online prior to the consultation and finding out the origins of the resources (King & Hoppe, 2013). This can enhance communication, understanding of the patient's health literacy, sharing of trustworthy resources, and ensuring the OCHI accessed by the patients is reliable (Ha et al., 2010; King & Hoppe, 2013).

# **4.4 Limitations**

Limitations of this study included the statistical methods that were applied, the validity of the CRIE readability formulae, and the lack of specific and valid tools for evaluating the suitability of online written health resources. Firstly, non-parametric methods were used for statistical analysis because of a small sample size and the presence of outliers, even though this may lessen the power of the results compared with standard parametric tests. Secondly, the validity of CRIE readability formulae is still questionable and is not clearly stated by the developers. Only the accuracy rate of the CRIE 1.0 and 2.0 version has been stated in Sung et al. (2013) and Sung et al. (2015). The validity of all TC readability formulae will likely to be extremely important for future studies.

Thirdly, SAM was originally developed to evaluate the suitability of printed material, such as textbooks, booklets, or brochures, hence, it is not specifically designed for online written materials. The designs for presenting written materials for paper-based and web-based are different (Gregory, 2004). For example, online materials do not have a book cover or cover graphic (SAM item 3a), and online materials can include visuals to support the delivery of information to the audience, such as videos and animated illustrations. These examples

demonstrated limitations of the criterion of the SAM items when examining the suitability of web-based written resources compared to evaluating paper-based written materials. It will be advantageous to modify the SAM tools or create a new suitability assessment that is specifically designed for evaluating web-based written materials which will be useful for future studies.

# 4.5 Future research

# 4.5.1 Cloze test for readability testing

Cloze test is a tool that measures the comprehensive of written materials (Bormuth, 1968) by deleting words from a passage following certain rules. It is a different style of readability testing which requires participants or readers to fill in the blank spaces with the words they think have been deleted. The comprehensiveness of written material is then rated by the percentage of the correct matching words and correct pronunciation of the words filled in the blank spaces (Bormuth, 1968). This test can be applied in research of readability of online TC hearing-related health information to provide a cross-checking for the RGL generated by computer-based readability formulae.

#### 4.5.2 Suitability Assessment for online materials

None of the current suitability assessments, including SAM and Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT), is specifically designed for online health education materials. Therefore, it would be worth the effort for future studies to work towards developing a standardized suitability evaluation tool for online materials that can be applicable for TC language.

### 4.5.3 The accuracy of online TC hearing-related health information

This study also looked beyond the readability of the online TC hearing-related health information and extended to evaluating its suitability, yet the accuracy of the health information should still be the top priority. We would like to deliver health information that is accurate and reliable, so readers can learn and improve their health literacy without any deviation from the scientific evidence. Ideally, the accuracy of online health information should be evaluated by a valid tool, however, there is still a lack of research in developing such an evaluation tool. Meanwhile, audiologists need to help monitor and distinguish online hearing-related health materials that are considered to be trustworthy for the general public.

# 4.6 Conclusions

In conclusion, this study was conducted to raise awareness of the readability and suitability of online hearing-related health information written in TC language and to compare it with the English version from the same website host organization. This study used both objective and subjective measurements to analyze the quality of various components and factors of online information related to hearing health care. The findings from this study show that the online hearing-related health information in TC language is readable and appropriate to the target population. Furthermore, these findings help to provide recommendations on specific elements in which the available online TC hearing-related health materials are less adequate and how these online resources could be revised and improved. We hope that these findings can motivate improvements and provide recommendations for webpage developers and audiologists, including monitoring and enhancing the accessibility and appropriateness of the online TC hearing resources to educate TC-reading populations about the importance of hearing health care.

# References

- Abou-Diab, S. N., Moser, D. C., & Atcherson, S. R. (2019). Evaluation of the readability, validity, and user-friendliness of written web-based patient education materials for aphasia. Aphasiology, 33(2), 187-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2018.1458069</u>
- Ad Hoc Committee on Health Literacy (1999). Health literacy: Report of the council on scientific affairs, *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 281, 552-557. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.281.6.552
- Andreassen, H. K., Bujnowska-Fedak, M. M., Chronaki, C. E., Dumitru, R. C., Pudule, I., Santana, S., Voss, H., & Wynn, R. (2007). European citizens' use of E-health services: a study of seven countries. *BMC public health*, 7(1), 53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-7-53</u>
- Berkhof, M., van Rijssen, H. J., Schellart, A. J., Anema, J. R., & van der Beek, A. J. (2011). Effective training strategies for teaching communication skills to physicians: an overview of systematic reviews. *Patient education and counseling*, 84(2), 152-162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2010.06.010</u>
- Berkman, N. D., Sheridan, S. L., Donahue, K. E., Halpern, D. J., & Crotty, K. (2011). Low health literacy and health outcomes: an updated systematic review. *Annals of internal medicine*, 155(2), 97-107. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-155-2-201107190-00005</u>
- Boothroyd, A. (2007). Adult aural rehabilitation: What is it and does it work? *Trends in Amplification*, *11*, 63-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1084713807301073</u>
- Bormuth, J. R. (1968). Cloze test readability: Criterion reference scores. *Journal of educational measurement*, 5(3), 189-196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-3984.1968.tb00625.x</u>
- Boyd, M. (1987). A guide to writing effective patient education materials. *Nursing Management*, 18, 56 57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00006247-198707000-00015</u>
- Boyer, C., Gaudinat, A., Baujard, V., & Geissbuhler, A. (2007). Health on the Net Foundation: assessing the quality of health webpages all over the world. In *Medinfo 2007: Proceedings of the 12<sup>th</sup> World Congress on Health (Medical) informatics; Building Sustainable Health Systems* (p.1017). IOS Press.
- Brangan, S. (2015). Development of SMOG-Cro readability formula for healthcare communication and patient education. *Collegium antropologicum*, *39*(1), 11-20.
- Broom, A. (2005). Virtually healthy: the impact of internet use on disease experience and the doctor-patient relationship. Qualitative health research, 15(3), 325-345. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732304272916

- Caposecco, A., Hickson, L., & Meyer, C. (2014). Hearing aid user guides: Suitability for older adults. *International journal of audiology*, *53*(1), 43-51. https://doi.org/10.3109/14992027.2013.832417\_
- Census and Statistics Department of the Hong Kong SAR (C&SD). (2014). Social data collected via the General Household Survey: Persons with disabilities and chronic diseases. *Special Topics Report No.* 62, (62). https://www.statistics.gov.hk/pub/B11301622014XXXXB0100.pdf
- Census and Statistics Department of the Hong Kong SAR (C&SD). (2016). Use of language by Hong Kong Population. 2016 Population By-census Main Results. Retrieved from https://www.bycensus2016.gov.hk/data/16bc-main-results.pdf
- Chang, M. C. (2012). 識讀素養不足照顧者適用的書面小兒氣喘照護指導教材之研究 [Research on written instructional materials for infant asthma care for caregivers with insufficient literacy skills]. National Taiwan University College of Medicine Thesis, 1-263.
- Chang, M. C., Chen, Y. C., Gau, B. S., & Tzeng, Y. F. (2014). Translation and validation of an instrument for measuring the suitability of health educational materials in Taiwan: Suitability assessment of materials. *Journal of Nursing Research*, 22(1), 61–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/jnr.000000000000018</u>
- Chang, M. C., Cheng, Y. C., Lyu, J. Y., & Chang, S. C. (2015a). 小兒科書面衛教教材適用性 評估 [Suitability Assessment of Pediatric Written Healthcare Education Materials]. *Tzu Chi Nursing Journal*, 14(4), 58-68. <u>http://nursing.tzuchi.com.tw/images/pdf/14-4/b2.pdf</u>
- Chang, F. C., Chiu, C. H., Chen, P. H., Miao, N. F., Lee, C. M., Chiang, J. T., & Pan, Y. C. (2015b). Relationship between parental and adolescent eHealth literacy and online health information seeking in Taiwan. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 18(10), 618-624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2015.0110</u>
- Chang, F. F., Ku, C. H., Wang, K. J., & Wu, W. L. (2011, July). Quality and Usability Assessment for Health Information Websites: Can Commonly Used Evaluation Criteria Be Appropriately Applied to Assess Chinese-Language Websites? In *International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction* (pp. 391-394). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-22095-1\_79
- Chang, T. H., Sung, Y. T., & Lee, Y. T. (2012). A Chinese word segmentation and POS tagging system for readability research.
- Cheng, C., & Dunn, M. (2015). Health literacy and the internet: a study on the readability of Australian online health information. *Australian and New Zealand journal of public health*, *39*(4), 309-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12341</u>

- Chinese Readability Index Explorer [CRIE], (2019). *Chinese Readability Index Explorer, CRIE* 3.0. <u>http://www.chinesereadability.net/CRIE/?LANG=CNT</u>
- Chu, J. T., Wang, M. P., Shen, C., Viswanath, K., Lam, T. H., & Chan, S. S. C. (2017). How, When and Why People Seek Health Information Online: Qualitative Study in Hong Kong. *Interactive Journal of Medical Research*, 6(2), e24. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/ijmr.7000</u>
- Contreras, A., Garcia-Alonso, R., Echenique, M., & Daye-Contreras, F. (1999). The SOL formulas for converting SMOG readability scores between health education materials written in Spanish, English, and French. *Journal of health communication*, 4(1), 21-29. https://doi.org/10.1080/108107399127066
- Convery, E., Keidser, G., Hartley, L., Caposecco, A., Hickson, L., & Meyer, C. (2011).
  Management of hearing aid assembly by urban-dwelling hearing-impaired adults in a developed country: Implications for a self-fitting hearing aid. *Trends in Amplification*, *15*(4), 196-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1084713811431694</u>
- Cotugna, N., Vickery, C. E., & Carpenter-Haefele, K. M. (2005). Evaluation of literacy level of patient education pages in health-related journals. *Journal of community health*, *30*(3), 213-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-004-1959-x</u>
- Dale, E., & Chall, J. S. (1948). A formula for predicting readability: Instructions. *Educational research bulletin*, 37-54. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/1473669</u>
- Daraz, L., Morrow, A.S., Ponce, O.J., Farah, W., Katabi, A., Majzoub, A., Seisa, M.O., Benkhadra, R., Alsawas, M., Larry, P., & Murad, M. H. (2018). Readability of online health information: a meta-narrative systematic review. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 33(5), 487-492. https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860617751639
- Davis, T. C., Crouch, M. A., Wills, G., Miller, S., & Abdehou, D. M. (1990). The gap between patient reading comprehension and the readability of patient education materials. *J fam Pract*, *31*(5), 533-538. <u>https://cdn.mdedge.com/files/s3fs-public/jfp-archived-issues/1990-volume\_30-31/JFP\_1990-11\_v31\_i5\_the-gap-between-patient-reading-comprehe.pdf</u>
- Doak, C. C., Doak, L. G., & Root, J. H. (1996). Assessing Suitability of Materials. *Teaching Patients with Low Literacy Skills*, 41-60.
- Doak, C. C., Doak, L. G., & Root, J. H. (1985). Teaching patients with low literacy skills. Lippincott. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/e518822004-001</u>
- Education Bureau (1997, October). Report on Review of 9-Year Compulsory Education. Major Reports. <u>https://www.eduhk.hk/cird/publications/edpolicy/29.pdf</u>

Education Bureau (2020, May). Hong Kong: The Facts-Education. https://www.gov.hk/en/about/abouthk/factsheets/docs/education.pdf

- Elmadani, L. (2019). Readability and suitability of online noise-induced hearing loss information in English. Retrieved 18 July 2020, from <u>https://ir.canterbury.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10092/16601/Elmadani,%20Lubna\_Master's</u> <u>%20Thesis.pdf?sequence=1</u>
- El Sherif, R., Pluye, P., Thoër, C., & Rodriguez, C. (2018). Reducing negative outcomes of online consumer health information: qualitative interpretive study with clinicians, librarians, and consumers. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 20(5), e169. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9326</u>
- Eltorai, A. E., Ghanian, S., Adams Jr, C. A., Born, C. T., & Daniels, A. H. (2014). Readability of patient education materials on the american association for surgery of trauma website. *Archives of trauma research*, *3*(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.5812/atr.18161</u>
- Estey, A., Musseau, A., & Keehn, L. (1991). Comprehension levels of patients reading health information. *Patient Education and Counselling*, *18*, 165 169. https://doi.org/10.1016/0738-3991(91)90008-s\_
- Ethnologue (2020, March 26). What are the top 200 most spoken languages? Retrieved June 2, 2020, from <u>https://www.ethnologue.com/guides/ethnologue200</u>
- Felipe, L., Beukes, E. W., Fox, B. A., & Manchaiah, V. (2020). Quality and readability of English-language internet information for vestibular disorders. *Journal of Vestibular Research*, (Preprint), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/ves-200698</u>
- Fleiss, J. L., Levin, B., & Paik, M. C. (2013). Statistical methods for rates and proportions. John wiley & sons.
- Foltz, A., & Sullivan, J.M. (1999). Limited literacy revisited implications for patient education. *Cancer Practice*, 7(3),145–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-5394.1999.07304.x</u>
- Fraser, S., Gagné, J. P., Alepins, M., & Dubois, P. (2010). Evaluating the effort expended to understand speech in noise using a dual-task paradigm: The effects of providing visual speech cues. *Journal of speech, language, and hearing research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2009/08-0140)</u></u>
- Freda, M. C. (2005). The readability of American Academy of Pediatrics patient education brochures. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 19(3), 151-156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedhc.2005.01.013</u>
- Friedman, D. B., & Hoffman-Goetz, L. (2006). A systematic review of readability and comprehension instruments used for print and web-based cancer information. *Health Education & Behavior*, 33(3), 352-373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198105277329</u>

- Friedman, D. B., & Kao, E. K. (2008). Peer reviewed: A comprehensive assessment of the difficulty level and cultural sensitivity of online cancer prevention resources for older minority men. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 5(1). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2248790/pdf/PCD51A07.pdf
- GovHK. (2020, February 24). GovHK: Hong Kong the Facts. Retrieved April 17, 2020, from <a href="https://www.gov.hk/en/about/abouthk/facts.htm">https://www.gov.hk/en/about/abouthk/facts.htm</a>
- Granikov, V., El Sherif, R., Tang, D., Bujold, M., Frati, F., & Bartlett, G. (2016). What are the outcomes associated with the use of online consumer health information in primary health care. A systematic review with framework synthesis of quantitative and qualitative evidence abstract. *J Can Health Libr Assoc*, *35*(2), 96-110.
- Gregory, J. (2004). Writing for the Web versus writing for print: Are they really so different? *Technical communication*, 51(2), 276-285. <u>https://katepedavoli.files.wordpress.com/2013/06/w7-gregory-writing-for-weby-print.pdf</u>
- Ha, J. F., & Longnecker, N. (2010). Doctor-patient communication: a review. *Ochsner Journal*, *10*(1), 38-43. <u>http://www.ochsnerjournal.org/content/ochjnl/10/1/38.full.pdf</u>
- Helitzer, D., Hollis, C., Cotner, J., & Oestreicher, N. (2009). Health literacy demands of written health information materials: an assessment of cervical cancer prevention materials. *Cancer control*, *16*(1), 70-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/107327480901600111</u>
- HLS-EU Consortium. (2012). Comparative report on health literacy in eight EU member states. The European Health Literacy Project 2009-2012. Maastricht: HLS-EU Consortium. <u>http://cpme.dyndns.org:591/adopted/2015/Comparative\_report\_on\_health\_literacy\_in\_eight\_EU\_member\_states.pdf</u>
- Hoffmann, T., & Ladner, Y. (2012). Assessing the suitability of written stroke materials: An evaluation of the interrater reliability of the suitability assessment of materials (SAM) checklist. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 19(5), 417–422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1310/tsr1905-417</u>
- Hoffmann, T., & Worrall, L. (2004). Designing effective written health education materials: Considerations for health professionals. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 26(19), 1166-1173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280410001724816</u>
- Hsu, P-S., Kelly-Campbell, R.J., & Wise, K. (2019). Readability of hearing-related internet information in Traditional Chinese. *Speech, Language and Hearing*, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2050571x.2019.1702240</u>
- Hutchinson, N., Baird, G.L., & Garg, M. (2016). Examining the reading level of internet medical information for common internal medicine diagnoses. *The American journal of medicine*, 129(6), 637-639. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.01.008</u>

IBM Corp. (2017). IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 25.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.

- Internet World Stats. (2020a, January 31). Asia Internet Use, Population Statistics Data and Facebook Data. Retrieved April 15, 2020, from <u>https://www.internetworldstats.com/stats3.htm</u>
- Internet World Stats. (2020b, March 3). World Internet Users Statistics and 2020 World Population Stats. Retrieved April 15, 2020, from <u>https://www.internetworldstats.com/stats.htm</u>
- Jayasinghe, U. W., Harris, M. F., Parker, S. M., Litt, J., van Driel, M., Mazza, D., Del Mar, C., Lloyd, J., Smith, J., Zwar, N., & Taylor, R. (2016). The impact of health literacy and life style risk factors on health-related quality of life of Australian patients. *Health and quality of life outcomes*, 14(1), 68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-016-0471-1</u>
- Jeng, C.C. *Chinese readability analysis using artificial neural networks*. Doctor of Education thesis, Northern Illinois University. Retrieved May 3, 2020 from <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/115691/</u>
- Jerger, J., & Jerger, S. (1980). Measurement of hearing in adults. Otolaryngology, 2, 1225-1250.
- Jing, C.Y. (1992). 國小國語教材的課文長度、平均句長及常用字比率與年級關係之探討 [Discussion on the relationship between the text length, average sentence length and the ratio of common characters in elementary school Mandarin textbooks and grades] (Rep. No. NSC 81-0301-H-017-04). Taipei: National Science Council, Executive Yuan.
- Jing, C.Y. (1995). 中文國文教材的適讀性研究: 適讀年級值的推估 [A Study on the Readability of Chinese Teaching Materials: Appropriate Reading Grade Level]. *Educational Research Information Journal*, *3*(3), 113-127.
- Kelly-Campbell, R., & Manchaiah, V. (2020). How to Provide Accessible Hearing Health Information to Promote Patient-Centered Care. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups*, 5(1), 173-180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2019\_persp-19-00044</u>
- Kincaid, J. P., Fishburne, R. P., Rogers, R. L., & Chissom, B. S. (1975). Derivation of new readability formula for navy enlisted personnel. *Millington, TN: Navy Research Branch*. <u>https://doi.org/10.21236/ada006655</u>
- Kindig, D. A., Panzer, A. M., & Nielsen-Bohlman, L. (2004). Health literacy: a prescription to end confusion. *National Academies Press*. <u>https://doi.org/10.5860/choice.42-4059</u>
- King, A., & Hoppe, R. B. (2013). "Best practice" for patient-centered communication: a narrative review. *Journal of graduate medical education*, 5(3), 385-393. https://doi.org/10.4300/jgme-d-13-00072.1

- Koeritzer, M. A., Rogers, C. S., Van Engen, K. J., & Peelle, J. E. (2018). The impact of age, background noise, semantic ambiguity, and hearing loss on recognition memory for spoken sentences. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 61(3), 740-751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2017\_jslhr-h-17-0077</u>
- Koo, T. K., & Li, M. Y. (2016). A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. *Journal of chiropractic medicine*, 15(2), 155-163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012</u>
- Kutner, M., Greenburg, E., Jin, Y., & Paulsen, C. (2006). The Health Literacy of America's Adults: Results from the 2003 National Assessment of Adult Literacy. NCES 2006-483. *National Center for Education Statistics*.
- Lambert, S. D., & Loiselle, C. G. (2007). Health information—seeking behavior. *Qualitative health research*, *17*(8), 1006-1019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307305199</u>
- Lampert, A., Wien, K., Haefeli, W. E., & Seidling, H. M. (2016). Guidance on how to achieve comprehensible patient information leaflets in four steps. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 28(5), 634-638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzw077</u>
- Laplante-Lévesque, A., Hickson, L., & Worrall, L. (2010). Factors influencing rehabilitation decisions of adults with acquired hearing impairment. *International journal of audiology*, 49(7), 497-507. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/14992021003645902</u>
- Laplante-Levesque, A., Lunner, T., & Andersson, G. (2011). Adults with hearing impairment and their significant others searching for hearing impairment information on the Internet: Quality and readability of English-language websites. In *First International Conference* on Cognitive Hearing Science for Communication, 19-22 June 2011, Linköping, Sweden (pp. 74-74).
- Laplante-Lévesque, A., Brännström, K. J., Andersson, G., & Lunner, T. (2012). Quality and readability of English-language internet information for adults with hearing impairment and their significant others. *International journal of audiology*, *51*(8), 618-626. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/14992027.2012.684406</u>
- Laplante-Lévesque, A., & Thorén, E. S. (2015). Readability of Internet information on hearing: Systematic literature review. *American Journal of Audiology*, 24(3), 284-288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2015\_aja-14-0091</u>
- Lau, T. P. (2006). Chinese readability analysis and its applications on the internet. *CUHK* (Doctoral dissertation, Master Thesis, Hong Kong).
- Leonard, K. (2017). Evaluating patient education materials for grade level. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet*, 21(1), 87-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15398285.2017.1280347</u>

- Levin-Zamir, D., Leung, A. Y. M., Dodson, S., & Rowlands, G. (2017). Health literacy in selected populations: Individuals, families, and communities from the international and cultural perspective. *Information Services & Use*, 37(2), 131-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/isu-170834</u>
- Ley, P., & Florio, T. (1996). The use of readability formulas in health care. *Psychology, Health & Medicine, 1*(1), 7-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13548509608400003</u>
- Liu, F. (2020, January 26). How Information-Seeking Behavior Has Changed in 22 Years. Retrieved April 15, 2020, from <u>https://www.nngroup.com/articles/information-seeking-behavior-changes/</u>
- Manchaiah, V., Dockens, A. L., Flagge, A., Bellon-Harn, M., Azios, J. H., Kelly-Campbell, R. J., & Andersson, G. (2019). Quality and readability of English-language Internet information for tinnitus. *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology*, *30*(01), 031-040. <u>https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.17070</u>
- Maon, S. N., Hassan, N. M., & Seman, S. A. A. (2017). Online Health Information Seeking Behavior Pattern. *Advanced Science Letters*, 23(11), 10582-10585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1166/asl.2017.10107</u>
- McHugh, M. L. (2012). Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. *Biochemia medica: Biochemia medica*, 22(3), 276-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.11613/bm.2012.031</u>
- Mcinnes, N., & Haglund, B. J. (2011). Readability of online health information: implications for health literacy. *Informatics for health and social care*, *36*(4), 173-189. https://doi.org/10.3109/17538157.2010.542529\_
- McMullan, A., Kelly-Campbell, R. J., & Wise, K. (2018). Improving hearing aid self-efficacy and utility through revising a hearing aid user guide: A pilot study. AMERICAN JOURNAL OF AUDIOLOGY, 27(1), 45-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2017\_aja-17-0035</u>
- Meade, C. D., & Smith, C. F. (1991). Readability formulas: cautions and criteria. *Patient* education and counseling, 17(2), 153-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0738-3991(91)90017-</u> <u>y</u>\_\_\_\_\_\_
- Medical Subject Headings (MeSH). (2003). Hearing Loss: A general term for the complete or partial loss of the ability to hear from one or both ears. <u>https://meshb.nlm.nih.gov/record/ui?ui=D034381</u>
- Medical Subject Headings (MeSH). (2008). Consumer Health Information: Information intended for potential users of medical and healthcare services. There is an emphasis on self-care and preventive approaches as well as information for community-wide dissemination and use. <u>https://meshb.nlm.nih.gov/record/ui?ui=D054626</u>

- Ministry of Education Republic of China. (2018, September 28). Education System Briefing. Retrieved April 22, 2020, from <u>https://english.moe.gov.tw/fp-74-17722-3fb83-1.html</u>
- Ministry of Health and Welfare. (2016). 社會福利統計月報表身心障礙人數 [Social Welfare Statistics Monthly Report on the population of physiological impairments]. Taipei City: Taiwan Centers for Disease Control.
- Neuhauser, L., & Kreps, G. L. (2014). Integrating design science theory and methods to improve the development and evaluation of health communication programs. *Journal of health communication*, 19(12), 1460-1471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2014.954081</u>
- Nielsen-Bohlman, L., Panzer, A., & Kindig, D. (2004). Health literacy. a prescription to end confusion. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/e515822006-002</u>
- Nutbeam, D. (2009). Defining and measuring health literacy: what can we learn from literacy studies? *Int J Public Health*, *54*, 303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-009-0050-x</u>
- Nutbeam, D. (1998a). Evaluating health promotion—progress, problems and solutions. *Health* promotion international, 13(1), 27-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/13.1.27</u>
- Nutbeam, D. (1998b). Health promotion glossary. *Health promotion international*, *13*(4), 349-364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/13.4.349</u>
- Nutbeam, D. (2000). Health literacy as a public health goal: a challenge for contemporary health education and communication strategies into the 21st century. *Health promotion international*, *15*(3), 259-267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/15.3.259</u>
- Paasche-Orlow, M. K., Parker, R. M., Gazmararian, J. A., Nielsen-Bohlman, L. T., & Rudd, R. R. (2005). The prevalence of limited health literacy. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 20(2), 175-184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.40245.x</u>
- Pang, P. C. I., Chang, S., Pearce, J. M., & Verspoor, K. (2014). Online Health Information seeking Behaviour: Understanding Different Search Approaches. In *PACIS* (p. 229). <u>http://www.pacis-net.org/file/2014/2037.pdf</u>
- Picou, E. M., Ricketts, T. A., & Hornsby, B. W. (2013). How hearing aids, background noise, and visual cues influence objective listening effort. *Ear and Hearing*, *34*(5), e52-e64. https://doi.org/10.1097/aud.0b013e31827f0431
- Portney, L. G., & Watkins, M. P. (2009). *Foundations of clinical research: applications to practice* (Vol. 892). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson/Prentice Hall.
- Potter, H. (2015). Readability, quality and suitability of web-based consumer audiological health information for adults with a hearing impairment living in New Zealand [Master thesis, University of Canterbury].

- Redish, J. (2000). Readability formulas have even more limitations than Klare discusses. *ACM Journal of Computer Documentation (JCD)*, 24(3), 132-137. https://doi.org/10.1145/344599.344637\_
- Redman, B.K. (2007). The practice of patient education. A case study approach (10<sup>th</sup> ed.). St Louis, MO: Mosby Elsevier.
- Rudd, R. E., Moeykens, B. A., & Colton, T. C. (1999). Health and literacy: a review of medical and public health literature. *Office of Educational Research and Improvement*. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED508707.pdf</u>
- Schwartzberg, J. G., VanGeest, J. B., & Wang, C. C. (2005). Understanding health literacy (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). *Chicago (IL): American Medical Association*.
- Shieh, C., & Hosei, B. (2008). Printed health information materials: Evaluation of readability and suitability. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 25(2), 73. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.canterbury.ac.nz/10.1080/07370010802017083
- Statcounter. (2020a, May). Search Engine Market Share Hong Kong. Retrieved June 10, 2020, from <u>https://gs.statcounter.com/search-engine-market-share/all/hong-kong</u>
- Statcounter. (2020b, May). Search Engine Market Share Taiwan. Retrieved June 10, 2020, from <u>https://gs.statcounter.com/search-engine-market-share/all/taiwan</u>
- Stossel, L. M., Segar, N., Gliatto, P., Fallar, R., & Karani, R. (2012). Readability of patient education materials available at the point of care. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 27(9), 1165-1170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-012-2046-0</u>
- Sung, Y. T., Chang, T. H., Lin, W. C., Hsieh, K. S., & Chang, K. E. (2016). CRIE: An automated analyzer for Chinese texts. *Behavior Research Methods*, 48(4), 1238–1251. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-015-0649-1</u>
- Sung, Y. T., Chen, J. L., Cha, J. H., Tseng, H. C., Chang, T. H., & Chang, K. E. (2015). Constructing and validating readability models: the method of integrating multilevel linguistic features with machine learning. *Behavior Research Methods*, 47(2), 340–354. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-014-0459-x</u>
- Sung, Y. T., Chen, J. L., Lee, Y. S., Cha, J. H., Tseng, H. C., Lin, W. C., Chang, T. H., & Chang, K. E. (2013). Investigating Chinese text readability: linguistic features, modeling, and validation. *Chinese Journal of Psychology*. doi:10.6129/CJP.20120621
- Sørensen, K., Van den Broucke, S., Fullam, J., Doyle, G., Pelikan, J., Slonska, Z., & Brand, H. (2012). Health literacy and public health: a systematic review and integration of definitions and models. *BMC public health*, 12(1), 80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-80</u>

- Tzeng, Y. F., & Gau, B. S. (2018). Suitability of asthma education materials for school-age children: Implications for health literacy. *Journal of clinical nursing*, 27(5-6), e921-e930. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13993</u>
- Wallhagen, M. I. (2009). The stigma of hearing loss. *The gerontologist*, 50(1), 66-75. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnp107
- Walsh, T. M., & Volsko, T. A. (2008). Readability assessment of internet-based consumer health information. *Respiratory care*, 53(10), 1310-1315. <u>http://rc.rcjournal.com/content/respcare/53/10/1310.full.pdf</u>
- Wang, Y., & Chen, J. (2013). Differences of English and Chinese as written languages and strategies in English writing teaching. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 3(4), 647. <u>https://doi.org/10.4304/tpls.3.4.647-652</u>
- WebFX, 2020. Readability Test Tool. http://webfx.com/tools/read-able
- Wei, M. H. (2014). The associations between health literacy, reasons for seeking health information, and information sources utilized by Taiwanese adults. *Health Education Journal*, 73(4), 423–434. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896912471523</u>
- Weiss, B. D. (1998). Communicating with patients who have limited literacy skills: report of the National Work Group on Literacy and Health. *Journal of Family Practice*, 46(2), 168-176. PMID: 9487325.
- Weiss, B. D. (2003). Health literacy: A Manual for Clinicians. *American Medical Association*, 253.
- Weiss, B.D., Hart, G., McGee, D.L., & D'Estelle, S. (1992). Health status of illiterate adults: Relation between literacy and health status among persons with low literacy skills. *Journal of American Board of Family Practice*, 5(3), 257-264. <u>https://www.jabfm.org/content/jabfp/5/3/257.full.pdf</u>
- Williams, M. V., Davis, T., Parker, R. M., & Weiss, B. D. (2002). The role of health literacy in patient-physician communication. *FAMILY MEDICINE-KANSAS CITY-*, *34*(5), 383-389.
- Wilson, M. (2009). Readability and patient education materials used for low-income populations. *Clinical Nurse Specialist*, 23(1), 33-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nur.0000343079.50214.31</u>
- Wilson, F. L., & McLemore, R. (1997). Patient literacy levels: a consideration when designing patient education programs. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, 22(6), 311-317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2048-7940.1997.tb02124.x</u>

- Wong, D. K., & Cheung, M. K. (2019). Online Health Information Seeking and eHealth Literacy Among Patients Attending a Primary Care Clinic in Hong Kong: A Cross-Sectional Survey. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 21(3), e10831. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/10831</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2020, March 1). Deafness and hearing loss. Retrieved May 20, 2020, from <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/deafness-and-hearing-loss</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2013). Millions of people in the world have hearing loss that can be treated or prevented. *Geneva: WHO*, 1-17. <u>https://www.who.int/pbd/deafness/news/Millionslivewithhearingloss.pdf</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2018). WHO global estimates on prevalence of hearing loss. Retrieved April 16, 2020, from <u>https://www.who.int/deafness/Global-estimates-on-prevalence-of-hearing-loss-Jul2018.pptx?ua=1</u>
- United States Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (UCFM&MS). (2012). Part 7: Using readability formulas: A cautionary note. *Toolkit for making written material clear and effective*, *p.23*. Retrieved 18 July 2020, from <u>https://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Outreach/WrittenMaterialsToolkit/Downloads/ToolkitPart07.pdf</u>
- Yan, Y. Y. (2010). Online health information seeking behavior in Hong Kong: An exploratory study. *Journal of Medical Systems*, *34*(2), 147–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-008-9226-9</u>
- Yang, S. (1970). A Readability Formula for Chinese Language. University of Wisconsin--Madison. Retrieved from <u>https://books.google.co.nz/books?id=YYrXAAAAMAAJ</u>

Appendix



HUMAN ETHICS COMMITTEE

Secretary, Rebecca Robinson Telephone: +64 03 369 4588, Extn 94588 Email: human-ethics@canterbury.ac.nz

Ref: HEC 2019/07/LR Amendment 2

14 February 2020

Rebecca Kelly Psychology, Speech and Hearing UNIVERSITY OF CANTERBURY

Dear Rebecca

Thank you for your request for an amendment to your research proposal "Quality of Hearing-Related Internet Information" as outlined in your email dated 10th February 2020.

I am pleased to advise that this request has been considered and approved by the Human Ethics Committee.

Yours sincerely

X A

Dr Dean Sutherland Chair, Human Ethics Committee

University of Canterbury Private Bag 4800, Christchurch 8140, New Zealand. www.canterbury.ac.nz

FES

An Evaluation of the Readability and Suitability of Online Hearing-related Health Information in Traditional Chinese Page 68 of 68